

Cleveland State University EngagedScholarship@CSU

ETD Archive

2011

Novel Translational Regulation of the Proapoptotic bcl2 Member Puma and Its Role During Skeletal Myoblast Apoptosis

Atossa Shaltouki *Cleveland State University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/etdarchive Part of the <u>Biology Commons</u> How does access to this work benefit you? Let us know!

Recommended Citation

Shaltouki, Atossa, "Novel Translational Regulation of the Proapoptotic bcl2 Member Puma and Its Role During Skeletal Myoblast Apoptosis" (2011). *ETD Archive*. 266. https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/etdarchive/266

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by EngagedScholarship@CSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in ETD Archive by an authorized administrator of EngagedScholarship@CSU. For more information, please contact library.es@csuohio.edu.

NOVEL TRANSLATIONAL REGULATION OF THE PROAPOPTOTIC BCL2 MEMBER PUMA AND ITS ROLE DURING SKELETAL MYOBLAST APOPTOSIS

ATOSSA SHALTOUKI

Bachelor of Science in Biology

University of Akron

May, 1996

Submitted in partial fulfillment of requirement for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN REGULATORY BIOLOGY

at the

CLEVELAND STATE UNIVERSITY

DECEMBER, 2009

©COPYRIGHT BY ATOSSA SHALTOUKI 2009

This dissertation has been approved for

the Department of Biological, Geological, and Environmental Sciences and

for the College of Graduate Studies of Cleveland State University by

	Date	
Dr. Crystal M. Weyman, <i>BGES/CSU</i> Major advisor		
	Date	
Dr. Barshan Mazumder, BGES/CSU Advisory Committee Member		
	Date	
Dr. Martha Cathcart, Cell Biology department CCF Advisory Committee Member		
	Date	
Dr. Xiaoxia Li, <i>Immunology department CCF</i> Advisory Committee Member		
Dr. Xiaoxia Li, <i>Immunology department CCF</i> Advisory Committee Member	Date	
Dr. Xiaoxia Li, <i>Immunology department CCF</i> Advisory Committee Member Dr. Anton A. Komar, <i>BGES/CSU</i> Internal examiner	Date	

External examiner

DEDICATION

To my parents, for their unending support, love and believing in me

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my parents for teaching me what I know and giving me the courage to be the person that I have become. And of course many thanks to my brothers, Toraj, Shahrokh, and my sister Sholeh, for their unending support, love and patience that kept me going.

I would like express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr Crystal M. Weyman. You have been a great source of inspiration. I know that without your support this work would have not been possible. Thank you for giving me confidence and guidance when I was lost and desperate. I learned so much from you even when you thought that I was not listening. I am so grateful that I had the opportunity to work for you. You taught me how to become a scientist. You believed in me when I had doubts. I am forever indebted to you for everything that you have done for me.

I would also like to thank the rest of my dissertation committee for their support. I would like to express my appreciation to Dr. Anton Komar for his help in developing the ideas that eventually became the last aim of my dissertation. I am grateful to Dr. Mazumder for his valuable suggestions and his generosity to let me use his laboratory. I would like to thank Dr. Xiaoxia Li and Dr. Martha Cathcart for their invaluable suggestions. I am so thankful to Dr. Dennis Stacey for accepting to be part of my dissertation committee on such a short notice. It

has been an honor to have had all of you commenting on my research project. I have been fortunate to have had the opportunity to work closely with you all.

I would like to acknowledge my colleagues whom I relied on for the past six year. Let me start by thanking Dr. Margot Freer for leaving me my dissertation topic and in helping me when I first joined the lab.

To Terri my lab mate: I think you sometimes got me mixed up with Frank. You and I have been together through good times and bad. I know that I am leaving but I will make sure to call you when I need my passwords. I will miss you and hope that you will visit me in a near future. Jason, you have been my smoking buddy, my confidant. I will truly miss you. Thank you for reading my thesis. I have a feeling, you will get married soon. Don't forget to invite me. Alex and Greg, you have been so insane and so much fun to be around. I will miss you guys. To Amber: I thank you for your moral support, and empathy. You were there when I needed to cry because my experiment failed. I have so many great memories with you including our coffee breaks. I hope that our friendship continues to grow.

I also would like to mention my students, Katie Smetana, Sarah Milosek and khadidja Benmerzouga. It was great working with you all. Thanks to Sujata, Jasvinder, for their friendship and help with my project, to Sujan for sharing his precious protocols with me. I regret that I cannot name everyone that helped me through this journey. You were all instrumental in getting me through my Ph.D. program.

NOVEL TRANSLATIONAL REGULATION OF THE PROAPOPTOTIC BCL2 MEMBER PUMA AND ITS ROLE DURING SKELETAL MYOBLAST APOPTOSIS ATOSSA SHALTOUKI

ABSTRACT

Differentiation and apoptosis are coordinately regulated in skeletal myoblasts. During the process of skeletal myoblast differentiation, our lab has determined that roughly 30% of myoblasts undergo apoptosis rather than differentiation. Further, we have reported that cytochrome C is released, and that the expression level of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family member PUMA is elevated, when 23A2 myoblasts are cultured in DM. Our long-term goal is to identify targets for manipulation that would abrogate this apoptosis without affecting differentiation. These findings could be significant to the study of myoblast transfer as a therapeutic approach.

The goals of this dissertation are to:

- 1- determine the significance of PUMA in apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentaion
- 2- determine the mechanism responsible for the increased expression of PUMA

In chapter II, we provide the data documenting that the release of cytochrome C in 30% of 23A2 cells correlates with the percentage of the cells undergoing apoptosis. We also showed that suppression of PUMA expression using short hairpin interfering RNA-mediated silencing of PUMA decreased the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis in 23A2 cells, thus demonstrating that the increased expression of PUMA is critical for the apoptotic process. Abrogation of PUMA expression did not affect that ability of myoblasts to undergo differentiation. Using a p53 pharmacological inhibitor Pifithrin, we showed that signaling through p53 is not responsible for the increased expression of PUMA in DM. Finally, using a fibroblast cell line expressing an estrogen receptor:MYoD fusion protein, we have determined that addition of estradiol sensitizes these fibroblasts to apoptosis and results in increased PUMA expression.

In chapter III, we have determined that culturing of myoblasts in DM with actinomyocin D is sufficient to block the increase in PUMA mRNA levels, but does not prevent the increase in PUMA protein levels. Further, metabolic labeling of newly synthesized proteins in myoblasts cultured in either growth media (GM) or DM supplemented with actinomycin D followed by immunoprecipitation of PUMA has allowed us to conclude that this increase in PUMA protein is a consequence of increased translation. Polyribosome analysis of PUMA mRNA indicated that translational regulation most probably occurs at the initiation step. We have also found that the increase in PUMA protein levels occurs under conditions of eIF2 alpha phosphorylation and subsequent global

ix

decrease in total protein synthesis. Analysis of the 5' UTR of PUMA mRNA by Mfold program predicts stable secondary structures incompatible with efficient ribosome scanning. Further, we have determined that impairment of capdependent translation *in vitro* and *in vivo* did not affect the translation of PUMA mRNA. Finally, we have generated data indicating that the increased translation of PUMA in DM is mediated by an internal ribosome entry site (IRES). Using mono- and bi-cistronic reporters, we have identified a fragment of PUMA mRNA that allows for cap-independent translation in vitro and in vivo in response to culture in DM. This fragment encompasses regions upstream and downstream of the initiation AUG codon. Thus, our data indicate that increased expression of PUMA in skeletal myoblasts relies on IRES-meditated translation.

In summary, we identified PUMA as the BH3-only proapoptotic molecule that plays an essential role in the apoptosis but not the differentiation of skeletal myoblasts. Thus, we have identified PUMA as a potential target for therapeutic manipulation to abrogate apoptosis without affecting differentiation. Finally we identified that IRES-mediated translation of PUMA as the mechanism responsible for the increase in PUMA expression in response to different stress stimuli.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION	
The skeletal myoblast model system	1
Overview of Apoptosis	3
Caspases	4
The intrinsic pathway	5
The extrinsic pathway	6
Bcl2 Family	9
Skeletal myoblast apoptosis	11
REFERENCES	13
II. INCREASED EXPRESSION OF THE PRO-APOPTOTIC BCL ₂ MEMBER PUMA IS REQUIRED FOR MITOCHONDRIAL RELEA CYTOCHROME C AND THE APOPTOSIS ASSOCIATED WITH SK MYOBLAST DIFFERENTIATION	FAMILY ASE OF (ELETAL
ABSTRACT	22
INTRODUCTION	23
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Cells and cell culture	27
Total cellular, cytosolic and mitochondrial lysate preparation	27
Analysis of cytosolic cytochrome C	28
Immunostaining	29

Immunostain for MHC	29
Cytosolic nucleosome ELISA	30
Quantitative RT-PCR	31
Immunoblot analysis	31
Silencing	32
RESULTS	
There is a correlation between the release of cytochrome C a	nd
the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation	134
Inhibition of elevated PUMA levels blocks the release of cyto	chrome
C and apoptosis	37
Inhibition of elevated PUMA levels allows skeletal myoblast	
differentiation	40
Increased expression of PUMA in 23A2 cells as a consequer	ice of
culture in DM is p53-independent	42
Increased expression of PUMA, mitochondrial release of cyto	chrome
C and apoptosis are induced by activation of MyoD	46
DISCUSSION	49
CONCLUSION	56
REFERENCES	57

III. TRANSLATIONAL REGULATION OF THE PRO-APOPTOTIC BCL2 FAMILY MEMBER PUMA

ABSTRACT	63
----------	----

INTRODUCTION

Translational initiation (cap dependent translation)	64
4E-BP	65
eIF2α	69
Internal Ribosome Entry Site (IRES)	71
MATERIALS AND METHOD	
Cell lines and cell culture	73
Statistical analysis	74
Silencing of PUMA using siRNA	74
Real-time analysis	75
Western blot analysis	75
Immunoprecipitation of ³⁵ S-metabolically labeled PUMA.	77
Total protein synthesis	78
Polyribosome analysis	79
Cap-analog experiment	81
In vitro transcription and translation	82
Monocistronic constructs	83
Dicistronic constructs	84
Cell transfection and reporter analysis	85
Promoterless bicistronic vector	85
RT-PCR analysis of the transfected bicistronic pRF vector h	arboring
PUMA 5UTR	86

RESULTS

Increased levels of PUMA protein in the absence of increase	d
PUMA message	87
PUMA protein is translationally regulated	91
PUMA translation is regulated at initiation step	93
Cap-dependent translation is initially decreased in DM but the	en
recovers to levels comparable to that observed in GM	95
The presence of hypophosphorylated 4E-BP correlates with	initial
decrease but not recovery of cap-dependent translation	95
De-phosphorylation of eIF2 α correlates with the recovery of	
cap-dependent translation	100
Identification of secondary structures in 5 ' UTR of PUMA us	sing
MFOLD algorithm	101
Competition by cap analog failed to inhibit the translation of	
capped PUMA RNA	104
PUMA 5' UTR functions as an IRES in a bicistronic vector	
in vitro	107
PUMA protein expression in DM is cap-independent	109
PUMA 5'-untranslated region functions as an IRES in vivo	109
PUMA 5'- untranslated region mediates internal ribosome	
entry site-dependent translation in vivo	113
5' UTR of PUMA does not contain elements with promoter	

activity	115
5'UTR of PUMA does not contain splicing acceptor sites	117
PUMA IRES activity is enhanced in response to etoposide	
treatment	117
PUMA IRES functions in HeLa cells and 293T cells	119
DISCUSSION	122
REFERENCES	128
IV. SUMMARY	141
REFERENCES	143

•

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	
1.1 The Intrinsic Pathway of Apoptosis	7
1.2 The Extrinsic Pathway of Apoptosis	8
2.1 Culture in differentiation mediuminduces the mitochondrial release of cytochromeC and disruption of mitochondrial membrane	36
2.2 Lentiviral-mediated Puma suppression in skeletal myoblasts	38
2.3 Lentiviral-mediated Puma suppression inhibits apoptosis and blocks cytochrome C release in skeletal myoblasts	39
2.4 PUMA silencing or caspase 9 inhibition does not prevent myogenesis	41
2.5 Pifithrin, a pharmacological inhibitor of P53 activity prevents differentiation of skeletal myoblasts as a consequence of culture in DM	43
2.6 Inhibition of p53 activity by pifithrin does not prevent the increase in expression of PUMA mRNA and protein as a consequence of culture in DM	44
2.7 Inhibition of p53 activity does not affect the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis in 23A2 cells as a consequence of culture in DM	45
2.8 10T1/2 fibroblast cells stably expressing ER:MyoD fusion protein undergo apoptosis in response to estradiol	47
2.9 Increased level of PUMA and apoptosis as a consequence of activation of ER:MyoD in 10T1/2 fibroblasts	48
3.1 Phosphorylation of 4E-BP allows translation	68
3.2 Phosphorylation of of serine 51 on the α subunit of eIF2 by eIF2 specific stress kinases	70

3.3 siRNA treatment of 23A2 cells suppresses the increase in PUMA transcripts but does not prevent the increase of PUMA protein in DM	88
3.4 Actinomyocin treatment of 23A2 cells does not prevent the increase of PUMA protein in DM	89
3.5 PUMA Protein has a half-life greater than 24 hours	90
3.6 PUMA expression is translationally regulated	92
3.7 Translational increase in PUMA expression occurs at initiation step	94
3.8 Global translation of 23A2 cells decreases after 3 hours in DM but then recovers to that level observed in GM after 18 hours	96
3.9 4E-BP phosphorylation fails to correlate with the recovery of the global protein synthesis in 23A2 cells	98
 3.10 mTOR phosphorylation levels correlate with total protein translation and PI3 kinase activity in 23A2 cells upon culture in differentiation media 	99
3.11 The phosphorylation status of eIF2 α correlates with the level of total translation in 23A2 cells upon removal of serum	102
3.12 The appearance of active PKR fragments upon culture of 23A2 cells in DM correlates with the phosphorylation status of eIF2 α and total protein synthesis	103
3.13 Predicted secondary structures of PUMA 5' UTR were generated by MFOLD	105
3.14 Competition by cap analog failed to inhibit the translation of PUMA RNA	106
3.15 PUMA 5'UTR shows IRES activity in vitro	108
3.16 PUMA expression in DM is cap-independent	110
3.17 IRES-mediated translation of PUMA	112

3.18 5'UTR of PUMA shows IRES activity in the absence of serum	114
3.19 5'UTR of PUMA does not contain promoter elements	116
3.20 RT-PCR analysis ruled out production of any aberrant RNA species from the dicistronic construct	118
3.21 PUMA IRES activity is increased in response to etoposide	120
3.22 The 5'UTR of PUMA shows IRES activity in human HeLa and 293T cells	121

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- A-1 Bcl2 related protein A1
- AIF Apoptosis inducing factor
- ANT Adenine nucleotide translocator
- Apaf-1 Apoptotic Protease Activating Factor 1
- ATM <u>Ataxia telangiectasia mutated</u>)
- ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
- ATR <u>Ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3</u>
- Bad Bcl-2 antagonist of cell death
- Bak Bcl-2 associated killer
- Bax Bcl-2 associated X protein
- Bcl-2 B-cell Lymphoma 2
- Bcl-xL B-cell lymphoma extra large
- Bcl-w B cell lymphoma -W
- BH Bcl2 homology domain
- bHLH Basic helix loop helix
- Bid Bcl-2 homology interacting domain death agonist
- Bim BCL-2-interacting mediator of cell death
- BIR Baculovirus IAP repeat
- Bik Bcl2-interacting killer
- Blk B lymphocyte kinase,
- BME Beta mercaptoethanol/Basal Medium Eagle
- BMEM Basal modified Eagle's medium

- Bmf Bcl2-modifying factor
- BNIP3 Bcl2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa protein-interacting protein 3
- Bok Bcl2-related overian killer
- BSA Bovine Serum Albumin
- CARD Caspase recruitment domain
- Caspases <u>Cysteine-aspartic acid specific proteases</u>
- CDK4 Cyclin dependent kinase 4
- cDNA Copy deoxyribonucleic acid
- CHAPS 3-[3-(chloramidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonic acid
- CHX Cyclohexamide
- cIAPs <u>C</u>ellular inhibitor of apoptosis
- Ct Coefficient time Ct Coefficient time
- DED Death effector domain
- DEPC Diethylpyrocarbonate
- Diablo **D**irect <u>IAP-b</u>inding <u>protein with low pl</u>
- DISC Death inducing signaling complex
- DM Differentiation medium
- DMEM Dulbecco modified eagle medium
- DMSO. Dimethyl sulfoxide
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- DNA-PKc <u>DNA</u>-activated <u>protein kinase catalytic subunit</u>
- dNTPs Deoxyribonucleo triphosphates
- DR4 Death receptor 4
- DR5 Death receptor 5

DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
elF	Eukaryotic initiation factor
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbant assay
EndoG	Endonuclease G
FADD	Fas-associated death domain
Fas	Fatty acid synthase
FasL	Fas ligand
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FLIP	FLICE-inhibitory protein
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde phosphodehydrogenase
GCN2	General control nondepressible 2
GM	Growth medium
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HLH	Helix loop helix
Hrk	Harakiri
HRI	Heme regulated eIF2 kinase inhibitor
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase
Hsp70	Heat shock protein 70
HtrA2	<u>High temperature requirement protein A2</u>
IAPs	Inhibitor of apoptosis
ld	Inhibitor of differentiation protein
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor

- IRES Internal Ribosome Entry Site
- ITAFs IRES Transacting Factors (ITAFs)
- Luc Luciferase
- Met/Cys Methionine/Cystine
- Mcl-1 Myeloid leukemia cell differentiation protein1
- MHC Myosin heavy chain
- MOMP Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
- MOMP Mitochondrial outer membrane potential
- MOPS 3-(N-Morpholino)propanesulfonic acid; n-(3-sulfopropylorpholine
- MRFs Muscle regulatory factors
- MRF4 Muscle Regulatory factor-4
- mRNA Messenger Ribonucleic acid
- Mtd Matador
- mTOR Mammalian target of rapamycin
- MTP Mitochondrial permeability transition
- Myf5 Myogenic factor-5
- MyoD Myogenic differentiation
- OD405 Optical density at 405 nm wavelength
- P Parental
- PBS Phosphate Buffered Saline
- PCBP2 Poly(rC) binding protein 2
- PERK Protein kinase-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase
- PI3K Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases

- PIKK <u>Phosphoinositide kinase-related kinase</u>
- PKR Protein Kinase R
- PMF Phenyl methylsufonylfluoride
- P/S Penicillin/streptomycin
- PTB Polypyrimidine –tract-binding protein
- PTP Mitochondrial permeability transition pore
- PUMA p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis
- PVDF Polyvinylidene difluoride
- qPCR Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- Raf Ras associated factor
- Ras Rat sarcoma
- Rb Retinoblastoma
- RNAi Ribonucleic acid interference
- RT-PCR Reverse-transcription-polymerase chain reaction
- S6K1 S6 kinase 1
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulfate
- SDS-PAGE Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- shRNA Short hairpin ribonucleic acid
- Smac <u>Second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase</u>
- Spike Small protein with inherent killing effect
- tBid Truncated Bid
- TCA Trichloroacetic acid
- TNF Tumor necrosis factor

- TNFR Tumor necrosis factor receptor
- TRAIL TNF related apoptosis inducing ligand
- TBS-T Tris buffered saline with Tween 20ER endoplasmic reticulum
- tRNA Transfer RNA
- TRADD Tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1 associated death domain
- Unr Upstream of N ras
- UTR Untranslated region
- VDAC Voltage dependent anion channel
- Xiaps X linked inhibitor of apoptosis

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The skeletal myoblast model system

Skeletal muscle is a valuable model for studying the mechanisms and signaling pathways that regulate cell lineage specification and differentiation. The myogenic program requires a group of transcription factors belonging to the muscle regulatory transcription factor (MRF) family consisting of Myf-5, MyoD, myogenin and MRF4 (1-6). Each member of the family shares a region of homology consisting of a basic region followed by a Helix loop Helix motif important for its protein oligomerization and DNA binding properties (7-9). Further (8-10) each factor is capable of inducing muscle lineage upon its expression in nonmuscle cells (2-4, 11). Examination of MRF expression patterns in the embryo as well as in muscle cell lines has revealed a temporal and spatial expression pattern for each MRF member with MyoD and Myf-5 being expressed in proliferating myoblasts and Myogenin and MRF4 being expressed upon differentiation (12-14). MyoD was the first member of MRFs identified and has been the most studied (8).

Detailed understanding of the mechanistic regulation of myogenesis has come from *in vitro* studies using murine myoblast cell lines. The myoblast cell lines most widely used are either isolated from C3H mice (C2C12 and BC3H-1) or derived from non-specified 10T1/2 fibroblasts also from C3H mice (23A2 myblasts) (15, 16). *In vivo*, circulating mitogens maintain myoblasts in an actively dividing and undifferentiated state. Appropriate migration results in a decrease in available mitogens, activation of MyoD, withdrawal from cell cycle and subsequent differentiation.

In proliferating myoblasts, MyoD is constitutively expressed but is transcriptionally inactive (2, 11, 17, 18). Transcriptional activation by MyoD requires dimerization with E-protein members through basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) domain to form a heterodimeric complex capable of binding a DNA consensus sequence: CANNTG which is known as E-box elements within the regulatory regions of most muscle-specific genes (7, 19, 20). In the presence of serum growth factors expression levels of Id remain high. Id is a HLH protein that lacks the basic region. Id heterodimerization with E-proteins prevents their binding to MyoD. In the absence of serum, Id proteins are degraded and differentiation is achieved upon MyoD transcriptional activation (21-23). The *in vitro* differentiation of skeletal myoblasts can thus be induced by mitogen withdrawal. Our lab (24) and others (25, 26) have previously reported that, in response to mitogen withdrawal, approximately 70% of myoblasts undergo differentiation while 30% will undergo apoptosis. The apoptotic process in other

cell systems has been studied extensively. The goal of the Weyman's lab has been to understand the functional apoptotic pathways in skeletal myoblasts.

Overview of Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a programmed cell death that occurs during normal development and is also important for maintaining tissue homeostasis (27). During development, maintaining the proper number of cells within a given tissue is achieved by a balance between proliferation and cell death. This ability of the cell to "commit suicide" in any tissue when no longer necessary, damaged or when lacking a survival factor is an active process and requires activation of certain conserved apoptotic genes (28, 29). Apoptosis has been implicated in the deletion of excess cells during myogenesis (30, 31), in the central nervous system (32), and in the removal of self-reactive T cells in the immune response (33) as well as during limb formation (34) and metamorphosis (29). Cells with damaged genetic content are also known to undergo the apoptotic process. Programmed cell death is a highly regulated process and therefore its disregulation is associated with a variety of diseases such as cancer (which is the case of too little apoptosis) or autoimmune disease (excessive apoptosis) (35). Cells undergoing programmed cell death exhibit a characteristic of a condensed cytoplasm and nucleus in addition to chromatin aggregation. Apoptosis is characterized by the production of apoptotic bodies, plasma membrane blebbing and the generation of nuclear DNA fragments of

internucleosomal size (36, 37). These morphological changes associated with apoptosis are achieved by a family of proteases known as caspases.

Caspases

Caspases are cysteine-aspartic acid specific proteases that catalyze the cleavage of their substrate after Aspartic Acid residues by their cysteine-rich active sites (28, 38). In every cell, caspases are made as inactive proenzymes consisting of a small and a large subunit and an N-terminus prodomain of variable length important for their recruitment and activation. Signaling events that lead to proteolysis between the subunits and removal of the prodomain, result in formation of active caspases which are a heterotetramer of 2 small and 2 large subunits of two procaspase molecules. Caspases are divided into two groups based on the size of their prodomains; the "initiator caspases" (caspase 2, 8, 9 and 10) have a long N-terminal prodomain while the "executioner" caspases" (caspase 3, 6 and 7) have a short prodomain. Subclassification of initiator caspases based on their mode of activation divides this group of caspases further into two groups. Caspases 2 and 8 have a long prodomain containing a death effector domain (DED), while caspase 9 has a caspase recruitment domain (CARD). In general, activation of initiator caspases by internal or external cues initiates a caspase cascade reaction, activating the downstream executioner caspases and leading to destruction of the cell (28, 39, 40). Two signaling pathways have been implicated in the initiation of apoptosis: the extrinsic pathway and the intrinsic pathway (41, 42)

The intrinsic pathway

The internal pathway of apoptosis begins with the mitochondria in response to a wide range of stimuli such as DNA damage, ER stress, oxidative stress, serum deprivation and other death inducing signals and results in mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP). MOMP results in the release of pro-apoptotic proteins, such as cytochrome C (43), Smac/Diablo (second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase/ direct IAP-binding protein with low pl) (44), omi/HtrA2 (high temperature requirement protein A2) (45, 46) and EndoG (Endonuclease G) (47, 48) from the intermembrane space of the mitochondria (49). After the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondria, a caspase cascade is initiated (50-52). In the cytosol, binding of cytochrome C with a WD-40 repeat of Apaf-1 (apoptotic protease activating factors) in an ATP dependent manner causes a conformational change and hepamerization of Apaf-1. A multiprotein complex known as apoptosome is then formed which participates in initiating the recruitment and activation of procaspase 9. Activation of caspase 9 within the apoptosome complex leads to cleavage and activation of downstream caspases 3 and 7 (53-55). In the cytosol, activity of caspases 3, 7 and 9 can be further inhibited by cytosolic cIAPs (cellular inhibitor of apoptosis), a family of proteins with antiapoptotic activity originally identified in the genome of baculovirus (56). The binding of caspases to the conserved baculovirus IAP repeat (BIR) domain of cIAPs inhibits apoptosis (57). However, this inhibition of caspase activity is relieved by the release of mitochondrial proteins such as

Smac/Diablo and Omi/HrtA, two mammalian IAP-binding proteins (58-61) (Fig. 1).

The extrinsic pathway

The external pathway of apoptosis involves the activation of death receptors belonging to the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily (TNFR) (62, 63) in response to external stimuli resulting directly in caspase activation. The cytoplasmic regions of these death receptors (TNFR-1, Fas/CD95, TRAIL DR4, DR5) consist of death domains while the extracellular region is cysteine rich and allows trimerization and activation of the receptor by its ligand (64, 65). Upon binding of a death ligand to its receptor, procaspase-8 is recruited to the death receptor through binding to death effector domains of adaptor proteins like FADD or TRADD in the death inducing signaling complex (DISC). Once several procaspase 8 molecules are recruited to the DISC complex, then by virtue of close proximity they cleave and activate each other through a process known as autoproteolysis. Activation of caspase 8 molecules leads to a caspase cascade resulting in the activation of effector caspases 3, 6, and 7 (40). Activation of caspase 8 has also been implicated in mitochondrial mediated cell death. It has been shown that caspase 8 cleaves Bid, a BH3-only member of the Bcl2 family, and that truncated Bid can translocate to the mitochondia and induce the release of cytochrome C via activation of Bax and Bak (66) (Fig. 2).



Figure 1.1 The Intrinsic Pathway of Apoptosis. In the presence of serum, PI3K phosphorylates the proapoptotic member Bad resulting in the cytosolic localization of Bad through its interaction with scaffold protein 14-3-3. In the absence of serum, the PI3K signaling pathway is inactive. Bad translocates to the mitochondria where it binds and blocks the activity of the antiapoptotic Bcl2 members. In response to DNA damage, the expression of BH3-only members like Bax and PUMA is upregulated in a p53-dependent manner. These proteins can then translocate to the mitochondria and cause permeabilization of the mitochondial membrane and the release of cytochrome C and other antiapoptotic molecules from the mitochondria. Cytochrome C binds Apaf-1 and caspase 9 resulting in apoptosome formation. Caspase 9 is active in the apoptosome and cleaves and activates caspases 3, 7 and downstream cellular targets.



Figure 1.2 The Extrinsic Pathway of Apoptosis Activation of the extrinsic pathway begins with the binding of a death ligand to its receptor which causes oligomerization of the receptors. Adaptor proteins such as FADD (Fas-associated death domain) are recruited to intracellular domains of these receptors which are known as the "Death domains", forming the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). Initiator caspases 8 and 10 are recruited to DISC through their death effector domains and are self-cleaved and activated by virtue of close proximity. Activated caspases 8 and 10 can then cleave and activate downstream caspases 3, 6, and 7. The intrinsic arm of this pathway involves the cleavage of pro-apoptotic Bcl2 member Bid by caspase 8. Truncated Bid translocates to the mitochondria and dimerizes with Bax, converging on the intrinsic pathway.

Bcl2 Family

The release of cytochrome C is subject to regulation by the Bcl-2 family of proteins (67). Bcl2 (B cell lymphoma 2) was the first member of the family identified as a proto-oncogene in follicular lymphoma cells with the t(14:18) chromosome translocation involving heavy chain joining regions of the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus on chromosome 14 and the bcl-2 gene on chromosome 18 (68). Many members of this protein family have a C-terminal transmembrane domain important for membrane docking (69). The involvement of the Bcl2 protein family in the apoptotic process came from genetic studies in C. *elegans.* These studies showed that the product of the ced9 gene, a homolog of mammalian Bcl2, is essential in preventing programmed cell death during worm development (70). Anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family (Bcl-2, BclxL, Bcl-w, A-1/Bfl-1 and Mcl-1, E1B, BHRF1, CED9) prevent mitochondrial disruption while pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family initiate mitochondrial disruption (60, 71-73). Sequence homology among members of Bcl-2 family has identified regions of high homology (BH1 to BH 4) important for protein-protein interaction. All anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family contain all four BH domains (Bcl2 homology domain) (74). Deletion of the BH4 domain has shown to promote pro-apoptotic activity in anti-apoptotic members of Bcl-2 family, indicating that this BH4 domain is essential for prosurvival activity of these members (69, 75). All proapoptotic members of Bcl2 lack this BH4 domain but must contain at least one BH3 domain. Classification of the pro-apoptotic members are either multi-domain (Bax, Bak and Bok/Mtd) or BH3-only domain

(Bid, Bim, Bik, Bad, Bmf, Hrk, Noxa, PUMA, Blk, BNIP3 and Spike) (76, 77). The primary function of the BH3 only family members is to induce the activation of Bax or Bak (78, 79) or to inhibit the anti-apoptotic function of Bcl-2 members (80). Knockout studies have demonstrated that both Bax and Bak are important regulators of mitochondia-mediated cell death since inactivation of both Bax and Bak in mice resulted in decreased apoptosis in different tissues during development. In addition, cells derived from these double knockout mice have been shown to be resistant to apoptosis in response to many stress stimuli (81, 82). In the absence of death signals, Bax exists as a monomer loosely associated with the membrane in the cytosol while Bak is located at the mitochondria. Following death signals, Bax and Bad undergo conformational changes that allow them to insert into the outer mitochondrial membrane and oligomerize (83), resulting in permeablization of the outer mitochondial membrane and release of proapoptotic proteins. It has been postulated that interaction with BH3 only members of the Bcl-2 family contributes to the oligomerization and channel forming ability of multidomain Bax and Bak while antiapoptotic members prevent this (83, 84). Alternatively, the increase in mitochondrial outer membrane permeability (MOMP) associated with the intrinsic apoptotic pathway can involve a sudden increase in permeability of the inner mitochondrial membrane to molecules up to 1.5 Kda, which result in mitochondrial swelling and rupture of outer mitochondrial membrane. The induction of mitochondrial permeability transition (MTP) through formation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (PTP) can be achieved by various

stimuli. PTP complexes consist of the ANT protein (adenine nucleotide translocator) in the inner mitochondrial membrane, the VDAC (voltage dependent anion channel) in the outer mitochondrial membrane, the benzodiazepine receptor and cyclophilin D (85-87). Although Bax and Bak are not essentional for MTP induction, interaction of Bax with VDAC and ANT has been reported to cause MOMP (88, 89).

Skeletal myoblast apoptosis

Apoptosis has been observed in cultures of primary myoblasts, established muscle cell lines, and in vertebrate models during the process of differentiation (24-26, 30, 31). Molecular mechanisms responsible for regulating apoptosis in skeletal muscle are still emerging. In skeletal myoblasts, a correlation between CDK inhibitor p21 induction and an apoptosis-resistance phenotype has been established (26). Our lab has previously reported that a delay of apoptosis can be achieved by the pharmacological inhibition of caspase 3 activity (24) and that the apoptosis associated with differentiation is abrogated by activated Ras or Raf signaling (90, 91). Over-expression of MyoD has been reported to be pro-apoptotic in cell lines lacking functional retinoblastoma protein (Rb) through expression of SV40 large T (92). Our lab has determined that activated Ras-mediated increased survival of myoblasts correlates with decreased levels of MyoD expression (93). Taken together, these data suggest a novel pro-apoptotic role for MyoD. Specifically, our data suggest that endogenous levels of MyoD can confer the ability to undergo apoptosis in cells
with functional Rb. We have further determined that culture in DM results in increased levels of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family member PUMA and the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondria (94). This increase in PUMA expression can still be detected in the absence of increased levels of PUMA mRNA (Shaltouki, manuscript in prepration). Thus, the Aims of my dissertation are to

1- determine the ability of MyoD to induce the expression of PUMA and apoptosis

2- determine the significance of PUMA to the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondria and apoptosis

3- investigate general translational regulation during myogenesis and explore translational regulation as the mechanism responsible for the increased expression of PUMA

REFERENCES:

- 1. **Braun T, Bober E, Winter B, Rosenthal N, Arnold HH** 1990 Myf-6, a new member of the human gene family of myogenic determination factors: evidence for a gene cluster on chromosome 12. Embo J 9:821-31
- 2. **Davis RL, Weintraub H, Lassar AB** 1987 Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell 51:987-1000
- 3. Edmondson DG, Olson EN 1989 A gene with homology to the myc similarity region of MyoD1 is expressed during myogenesis and is sufficient to activate the muscle differentiation program. Genes Dev 3:628-40
- 4. **Rhodes SJ, Konieczny SF** 1989 Identification of MRF4: a new member of the muscle regulatory factor gene family. Genes Dev 3:2050-61
- 5. **Olson EN** 1993 Regulation of muscle transcription by the MyoD family. The heart of the matter. Circ Res 72:1-6
- 6. **Miner JH, Wold B** 1990 Herculin, a fourth member of the MyoD family of myogenic regulatory genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:1089-93
- 7. **Davis RL, Cheng PF, Lassar AB, Weintraub H** 1990 The MyoD DNA binding domain contains a recognition code for muscle-specific gene activation. Cell 60:733-46
- 8. **Lassar AB, Buskin JN, Lockshon D, et al.** 1989 MyoD is a sequencespecific DNA binding protein requiring a region of myc homology to bind to the muscle creatine kinase enhancer. Cell 58:823-31
- 9. **Tapscott SJ, Davis RL, Thayer MJ, Cheng PF, Weintraub H, Lassar AB** 1988 MyoD1: a nuclear phosphoprotein requiring a Myc homology region to convert fibroblasts to myoblasts. Science 242:405-11
- Tapscott SJ, Davis RL, Lassar AB, Weintraub H 1990 MyoD: a regulatory gene of skeletal myogenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol 280:3-5; discussion 5-6
- 11. **Braun T, Buschhausen-Denker G, Bober E, Tannich E, Arnold HH** 1989 A novel human muscle factor related to but distinct from MyoD1 induces myogenic conversion in 10T1/2 fibroblasts. Embo J 8:701-9

- 12. **Ludolph DC, Konieczny SF** 1995 Transcription factor families: muscling in on the myogenic program. Faseb J 9:1595-604
- Yun K, Wold B 1996 Skeletal muscle determination and differentiation: story of a core regulatory network and its context. Curr Opin Cell Biol 8:877-89
- Yablonka-Reuveni Z 1993 Patterns of proliferation and differentiation of adult myoblasts define a unique myogenic population. Prog Clin Biol Res 383B:575-85
- 15. **Reznikoff CA, Brankow DW, Heidelberger C** 1973 Establishment and characterization of a cloned line of C3H mouse embryo cells sensitive to postconfluence inhibition of division. Cancer Res 33:3231-8
- 16. Aurade F, Pinset C, Chafey P, Gros F, Montarras D 1994 Myf5, MyoD, myogenin and MRF4 myogenic derivatives of the embryonic mesenchymal cell line C3H10T1/2 exhibit the same adult muscle phenotype. Differentiation 55:185-92
- 17. **Sassoon D, Lyons G, Wright WE, et al.** 1989 Expression of two myogenic regulatory factors myogenin and MyoD1 during mouse embryogenesis. Nature 341:303-7
- 18. Ott MO, Bober E, Lyons G, Arnold H, Buckingham M 1991 Early expression of the myogenic regulatory gene, myf-5, in precursor cells of skeletal muscle in the mouse embryo. Development 111:1097-107
- 19. **Murre C, McCaw PS, Vaessin H, et al.** 1989 Interactions between heterologous helix-loop-helix proteins generate complexes that bind specifically to a common DNA sequence. Cell 58:537-44
- 20. Lassar AB, Davis RL, Wright WE, et al. 1991 Functional activity of myogenic HLH proteins requires hetero-oligomerization with E12/E47-like proteins in vivo. Cell 66:305-15
- 21. Benezra R, Davis RL, Lassar A, et al. 1990 Id: a negative regulator of helix-loop-helix DNA binding proteins. Control of terminal myogenic differentiation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 599:1-11
- 22. **Norton JD** 2000 ID helix-loop-helix proteins in cell growth, differentiation and tumorigenesis. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 22):3897-905
- 23. **Puri PL, Sartorelli V** 2000 Regulation of muscle regulatory factors by DNA-binding, interacting proteins, and post-transcriptional modifications. J Cell Physiol 185:155-73

- 24. **Dee K, Freer M, Mei Y, Weyman CM** 2002 Apoptosis coincident with the differentiation of skeletal myoblasts is delayed by caspase 3 inhibition and abrogated by MEK-independent constitutive Ras signaling. Cell Death Differ 9:209-18
- 25. **Fidzianska A, Goebel HH** 1991 Human ontogenesis. 3. Cell death in fetal muscle. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 81:572-7
- 26. **Wang J, Walsh K** 1996 Resistance to apoptosis conferred by Cdk inhibitors during myocyte differentiation. Science 273:359-61
- 27. **Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR** 1972 Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer 26:239-57
- 28. **Leist M, Jaattela M** 2001 Four deaths and a funeral: from caspases to alternative mechanisms. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:589-98
- 29. Lockshin RA, Zakeri Z 2001 Programmed cell death and apoptosis: origins of the theory. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:545-50
- 30. **Sandri M, Carraro U** 1999 Apoptosis of skeletal muscles during development and disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31:1373-90
- 31. **Miller JB, Stockdale FE** 1986 Developmental regulation of the multiple myogenic cell lineages of the avian embryo. J Cell Biol 103:2197-208
- 32. **Hutchins JB, Barger SW** 1998 Why neurons die: cell death in the nervous system. Anat Rec 253:79-90
- 33. **Rathmell JC, Thompson CB** 2002 Pathways of apoptosis in lymphocyte development, homeostasis, and disease. Cell 109 Suppl:S97-107
- 34. **Zuzarte-Luis V, Hurle JM** 2002 Programmed cell death in the developing limb. Int J Dev Biol 46:871-6
- 35. **Fadeel B, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B** 1999 Apoptosis in human disease: a new skin for the old ceremony? Biochem Biophys Res Commun 266:699-717
- 36. Saraste A, Pulkki K 2000 Morphologic and biochemical hallmarks of apoptosis. Cardiovasc Res 45:528-37
- 37. Hengartner MO 2000 The biochemistry of apoptosis. Nature 407:770-6

- 38. **Riedl SJ, Shi Y** 2004 Molecular mechanisms of caspase regulation during apoptosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:897-907
- 39. Earnshaw WC, Martins LM, Kaufmann SH 1999 Mammalian caspases: structure, activation, substrates, and functions during apoptosis. Annu Rev Biochem 68:383-424
- 40. **Denault JB, Salvesen GS** 2002 Caspases: keys in the ignition of cell death. Chem Rev 102:4489-500
- 41. **Green DR** 2000 Apoptotic pathways: paper wraps stone blunts scissors. Cell 102:1-4
- 42. **Richardson H, Kumar S** 2002 Death to flies: Drosophila as a model system to study programmed cell death. J Immunol Methods 265:21-38
- 43. Kluck RM, Bossy-Wetzel E, Green DR, Newmeyer DD 1997 The release of cytochrome c from mitochondria: a primary site for Bcl-2 regulation of apoptosis. Science 275:1132-6
- 44. Verhagen AM, Ekert PG, Pakusch M, et al. 2000 Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein that promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins. Cell 102:43-53
- 45. Faccio L, Fusco C, Chen A, Martinotti S, Bonventre JV, Zervos AS 2000 Characterization of a novel human serine protease that has extensive homology to bacterial heat shock endoprotease HtrA and is regulated by kidney ischemia. J Biol Chem 275:2581-8
- 46. **Suzuki Y, Imai Y, Nakayama H, Takahashi K, Takio K, Takahashi R** 2001 A serine protease, HtrA2, is released from the mitochondria and interacts with XIAP, inducing cell death. Mol Cell 8:613-21
- 47. **Ii LY LX, Wang X.** 2001 Endonuclease G is an apoptotic DNase when released from mitochondria. nature:95-99
- 48. **Susin SA, Lorenzo HK, Zamzami N, et al.** 1999 Molecular characterization of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor. Nature 397:441-6
- 49. **Newmeyer DD, Ferguson-Miller S** 2003 Mitochondria: releasing power for life and unleashing the machineries of death. Cell 112:481-90
- 50. **Robertson JD, Gogvadze V, Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S** 2000 Distinct pathways for stimulation of cytochrome c release by etoposide. J Biol Chem 275:32438-43

- 51. **Salvesen GS, Dixit VM** 1997 Caspases: intracellular signaling by proteolysis. Cell 91:443-6
- 52. **Thornberry NA** 1998 Caspases: key mediators of apoptosis. Chem Biol 5:R97-103
- 53. **Zou H, Li Y, Liu X, Wang X** 1999 An APAF-1.cytochrome c multimeric complex is a functional apoptosome that activates procaspase-9. J Biol Chem 274:11549-56
- 54. Li P, Nijhawan D, Budihardjo I, et al. 1997 Cytochrome c and dATPdependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. Cell 91:479-89
- 55. Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, MacFarlane M, et al. 1998 Generation of constitutively active recombinant caspases-3 and -6 by rearrangement of their subunits. J Biol Chem 273:10107-11
- 56. **Deveraux QL, Reed JC** 1999 IAP family proteins--suppressors of apoptosis. Genes Dev 13:239-52
- 57. **Takahashi R, Deveraux Q, Tamm I, et al.** 1998 A single BIR domain of XIAP sufficient for inhibiting caspases. J Biol Chem 273:7787-90
- 58. **Du C, Fang M, Li Y, Li L, Wang X** 2000 Smac, a mitochondrial protein that promotes cytochrome c-dependent caspase activation by eliminating IAP inhibition. Cell 102:33-42
- 59. Verhagen AM, Silke J, Ekert PG, et al. 2002 HtrA2 promotes cell death through its serine protease activity and its ability to antagonize inhibitor of apoptosis proteins. J Biol Chem 277:445-54
- 60. **Moriishi K, Huang DC, Cory S, Adams JM** 1999 Bcl-2 family members do not inhibit apoptosis by binding the caspase activator Apaf-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:9683-8
- 61. **Martins LM, laccarino I, Tenev T, et al.** 2002 The serine protease Omi/HtrA2 regulates apoptosis by binding XIAP through a reaper-like motif. J Biol Chem 277:439-44
- 62. **Baker SJ, Reddy EP** 1998 Modulation of life and death by the TNF receptor superfamily. Oncogene 17:3261-70
- 63. **Sartorius U, Schmitz I, Krammer PH** 2001 Molecular mechanisms of death-receptor-mediated apoptosis. Chembiochem 2:20-9

- 64. **Naismith JH, Sprang SR** 1998 Modularity in the TNF-receptor family. Trends Biochem Sci 23:74-9
- 65. **Ashkenazi A** 2002 Targeting death and decoy receptors of the tumournecrosis factor superfamily. Nat Rev Cancer 2:420-30
- 66. Almasan A, Ashkenazi A 2003 Apo2L/TRAIL: apoptosis signaling, biology, and potential for cancer therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 14:337-48
- 67. **Hengartner MO, Ellis RE, Horvitz HR** 1992 Caenorhabditis elegans gene ced-9 protects cells from programmed cell death. Nature 356:494-9
- 68. **Tsujimoto Y, Finger LR, Yunis J, Nowell PC, Croce CM** 1984 Cloning of the chromosome breakpoint of neoplastic B cells with the t(14;18) chromosome translocation. Science 226:1097-9
- 69. Adams JM, Cory S 1998 The Bcl-2 protein family: arbiters of cell survival. Science 281:1322-6
- 70. **Hengartner MO, Horvitz HR** 1994 C. elegans cell survival gene ced-9 encodes a functional homolog of the mammalian proto-oncogene bcl-2. Cell 76:665-76
- 71. Newmeyer DD, Bossy-Wetzel E, Kluck RM, Wolf BB, Beere HM, Green DR 2000 Bcl-xL does not inhibit the function of Apaf-1. Cell Death Differ 7:402-7
- 72. Eskes R, Desagher S, Antonsson B, Martinou JC 2000 Bid induces the oligomerization and insertion of Bax into the outer mitochondrial membrane. Mol Cell Biol 20:929-35
- 73. **Kelekar A, Thompson CB** 1998 Bcl-2-family proteins: the role of the BH3 domain in apoptosis. Trends Cell Biol 8:324-30
- 74. **Borner C** 2003 The Bcl-2 protein family: sensors and checkpoints for lifeor-death decisions. Mol Immunol 39:615-47
- 75. **Huang DC, Adams JM, Cory S** 1998 The conserved N-terminal BH4 domain of Bcl-2 homologues is essential for inhibition of apoptosis and interaction with CED-4. Embo J 17:1029-39
- 76. **Mund T, Gewies A, Schoenfeld N, Bauer MK, Grimm S** 2003 Spike, a novel BH3-only protein, regulates apoptosis at the endoplasmic reticulum. Faseb J 17:696-8

- 77. **Cory S, Adams JM** 2002 The Bcl2 family: regulators of the cellular life-ordeath switch. Nat Rev Cancer 2:647-56
- 78. **Chao DT, Korsmeyer SJ** 1998 BCL-2 family: regulators of cell death. Annu Rev Immunol 16:395-419
- 79. **Scorrano L, Korsmeyer SJ** 2003 Mechanisms of cytochrome c release by proapoptotic BCL-2 family members. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 304:437-44
- 80. Letai A, Bassik MC, Walensky LD, Sorcinelli MD, Weiler S, Korsmeyer SJ 2002 Distinct BH3 domains either sensitize or activate mitochondrial apoptosis, serving as prototype cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell 2:183-92
- 81. Lindsten T, Ross AJ, King A, et al. 2000 The combined functions of proapoptotic Bcl-2 family members bak and bax are essential for normal development of multiple tissues. Mol Cell 6:1389-99
- 82. Wei MC, Zong WX, Cheng EH, et al. 2001 Proapoptotic BAX and BAK: a requisite gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction and death. Science 292:727-30
- 83. Nechushtan A, Smith CL, Lamensdorf I, Yoon SH, Youle RJ 2001 Bax and Bak coalesce into novel mitochondria-associated clusters during apoptosis. J Cell Biol 153:1265-76
- 84. **Korsmeyer SJ, Wei MC, Saito M, Weiler S, Oh KJ, Schlesinger PH** 2000 Pro-apoptotic cascade activates BID, which oligomerizes BAK or BAX into pores that result in the release of cytochrome c. Cell Death Differ 7:1166-73
- 85. **Kim JS, Qian T, Lemasters JJ** 2003 Mitochondrial permeability transition in the switch from necrotic to apoptotic cell death in ischemic rat hepatocytes. Gastroenterology 124:494-503
- 86. Belzacq AS, Vieira HL, Kroemer G, Brenner C 2002 The adenine nucleotide translocator in apoptosis. Biochimie 84:167-76
- 87. **Zamzami N, Marchetti P, Castedo M, et al.** 1996 Inhibitors of permeability transition interfere with the disruption of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential during apoptosis. FEBS Lett 384:53-7
- 88. **Shimizu S, Tsujimoto Y** 2000 Proapoptotic BH3-only Bcl-2 family members induce cytochrome c release, but not mitochondrial membrane

potential loss, and do not directly modulate voltage-dependent anion channel activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:577-82

- 89. **Marzo I, Brenner C, Zamzami N, et al.** 1998 Bax and adenine nucleotide translocator cooperate in the mitochondrial control of apoptosis. Science 281:2027-31
- 90. **Dee K, DeChant A, Weyman CM** 2003 Differential signaling through NFkappaB does not ameliorate skeletal myoblast apoptosis during differentiation. FEBS Lett 545:246-52
- 91. **DeChant AK, Dee K, Weyman CM** 2002 Raf-induced effects on the differentiation and apoptosis of skeletal myoblasts are determined by the level of Raf signaling: abrogation of apoptosis by Raf is downstream of caspase 3 activation. Oncogene 21:5268-79
- 92. **Fimia GM, Gottifredi V, Bellei B, et al.** 1998 The activity of differentiation factors induces apoptosis in polyomavirus large T-expressing myoblasts. Mol Biol Cell 9:1449-63
- 93. **Karasarides M, Dee K, Schulman D, Wolfman A, Weyman CM** 2006 Active Ras-induced effects on skeletal myoblast differentiation and apoptosis are independent of constitutive PI3-kinase activity. Cell Biol Int 30:308-18
- 94. **Shaltouki A, Freer M, Mei Y, Weyman CM** 2007 Increased expression of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family member PUMA is required for mitochondrial release of cytochrome C and the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation. Apoptosis 12:2143-54

CHAPTER II

INCREASED EXPRESSION OF THE PRO-APOPTOTIC BCL2 FAMILY MEMBER ¹PUMA IS REQUIRED FOR MITOCHONDRIAL RELEASE OF CYTOCHROME C AND THE APOPTOSIS ASSOCIATED WITH SKELETAL MYOBLAST DIFFERENTIATION

The data in this chapter is included in two separate manuscripts entitled "Increased expression of the proapoptotic BCL2 family member PUMA is required for mitochondrial release of cytochrome C and the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation." Shaltouki, A., Freer, M., Mei. Y., Weyman, C.M., Apoptosis.Dec. 2007, and "Increased expression of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family member PUMA and apoptosis by the muscle regulatory transcription factor MyoD in response to a variety of stimuli" Harford, T. J., Shaltouki, A. Weyman, C.M., Apoptosis 2009 in press.

ABSTRACT

We have previously shown that when skeletal myoblasts are cultured in differentiation medium (DM), roughly 30% undergo caspase 3-dependent apoptosis rather than differentiation. Herein, we demonstrate that culturing 23A2 myoblasts in DM results in a time dependent release of mitochondrial cytochrome C into the cytosol in roughly 30% of myoblasts. Additionally, it has been shown previously in our lab that inclusion of cycloheximide inhibits the release of cytochrome C, the activation of caspase 9 and apoptosis. These data indicate that the mitochondrial pathway plays a role in this apoptotic process and that engagement of this pathway relies on *de novo* protein synthesis. Through RT-PCR and immunoblot analysis, we have determined that the expression level of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family member PUMA is elevated when 23A2 myoblasts are cultured in DM. Using shRNA against PUMA, we show that the silencing of PUMA inhibits the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis. Furthermore, signaling by the transcription factor p53 is not responsible for the increased level of PUMA. We also provide evidence that myoblasts rescued from apoptosis by either inhibition of elevated caspase 9 activity or silencing of PUMA are competent for differentiation. These results indicate a critical role for PUMA in the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation and that a p53independent mechanism is responsible for the increased expression of PUMA in these cells. Finally, we demonstrate that MyoD activation can induce the expression of PUMA, cytochrome C release and apoptosis, supporting our previous finding that MyoD expression levels correlate with apoptosis.

INTRODUCTION

Differentiation and apoptosis are coordinately regulated in many cell types throughout development and to maintain homeostasis. During the process of skeletal myoblast differentiation, roughly 30% of myoblasts undergo apoptosis rather than differentiation (1, 2). The apoptosis of myoblasts is a physiological process that likely serves the necessary function of removing excess myoblasts during muscle regeneration (3) and myogenesis (4). This coordinate regulation of differentiation and apoptosis could decrease the efficacy of myoblast transfer to treat a variety of diseases. Skeletal myoblast apoptosis also contributes pathologically to a variety of disease states (1, 5-12). Elucidating the functional apoptotic pathways in skeletal myoblasts, therefore, will identify targets for therapeutic manipulation that could increase the efficacy of myoblast transfer and could alleviate disease states associated with muscle degeneration.

Despite the vast knowledge detailing skeletal myoblast determination and differentiation, our understanding of the molecular mechanisms controlling the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation is limited (2, 13-21).

The molecular mechanisms responsible for apoptosis in other systems, however, have been extensively studied. In most systems, mitochondrial disruption and subsequent release of pro-apoptotic proteins like cytochrome C is a critical event in the process of apoptosis (22). The release of these factors

from the mitochondria is antagonized by anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl2 family and initiated by pro-apoptotic members. Pro-apoptotic members can be activated by post-translational modification, subcellular translocation and/or by increased expression (22-24).

PUMA has been identified as a transcriptional target of p53 by SAGE analysis (25, 26) and as a Bcl2 interacting protein by a yeast two-hybrid (27). PUMA is a member of the BH3-only pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family sharing only a conserved Bcl2 homology (BH3) domain with other members of this family. Like other BH3-only members, PUMA localizes at the mitochondria in response to death signals. At the mitochondria, PUMA heterodimerizes with multidomain Bcl2 family members such as Bcl-xl or Bcl-2, antagonizing their function by disassociating them from Bax, allowing Bax oligomerization, depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane potential and release of cytochrome C (28). Released cytochrome C interacts with the adaptor protein Apaf-1 (adaptor proteaseactivating factor 1). This interaction results in a conformational change in Apaf-1 and induces oligomerization and activation of the initiator caspase 9 in an dATP dependent manner and subsequent activation of caspase 3 (29).

PUMA expression is regulated at the transcriptional level. Analysis of the PUMA promoter has identified two p53-responsive elements upstream of the 5'untranslated region of PUMA. PUMA induced apoptosis in response to DNA damaging agents has been shown to be mediated by p53; however, serum

starvation, glucocorticoids and cytokine withdrawal have been reported to induce PUMA expression in a p53-independent manner (25, 30, 31). The mechanism of increased expression of PUMA in the absence of p53 is unknown. Recently, a consensus sequence corresponding to Foxo3a binding sites within the first intronic region of PUMA has been identified to be responsible for the increased expression of PUMA in response to cytokine or growth factor deprivation (32).

Recently, a tumor suppressive role for PUMA has been implicated. PUMA-/- mice and P53-/- mice exhibit similar phenotypes and are resistant to stress-induced cell death stimuli such as DNA damaging agents, oncogenic activation and ionizing irriadiation (31). These reports, along with recently published data showing the silencing or deregulated expression of PUMA in number of primary cancer cell lines, highlights the importance of PUMA as an emerging therapeutic target (33).

Previous published data suggest a pro-apoptotic role for the muscle regulatory transcription factor MyoD. Over-expressed ectopic MyoD through culture in differentiation media (DM) has been reported to be pro-apoptotic in cell lines lacking functional retinoblastoma protein (34). Others in our laboratory have previously shown a correlation between MyoD expression levels and apoptosis in 23A2 cells. It has been demonstrated that activated Ras-mediated increased survival of myoblasts correlates with decreased levels of MyoD expression and that re-expression of endogenous levels of MyoD in these active

Ras-expressing cell lines restores their ability to undergo both differentiation and apoptosis (35). These findings suggest that endogenous levels of MyoD might confer the ability to undergo apoptosis in cells with functional Rb. Therefore, we hypothesized that Myo D activation might be sufficient to induce the expression of PUMA, cytochrome C release and apoptosis.

Our group has previously reported that caspase 3 plays a role in the apoptosis associated with differentiation in skeletal myoblasts(2). Others in our laboratory have shown that culturing the 23A2 myoblasts in DM results in the activation of caspases 9 and 3 downstream molecules of the mitochondria. Activation of caspase 9 requires apoptosome formation and therefore the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondria. In agreement with this, subcellular fractionation studies performed in our lab confirmed the release of cytochrome C into the cytosol as 23A2 myoblasts are switched from GM to DM. Reported data suggested that the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis in 23A2 myoblasts require new transcription and translation. This led to identification of the proapoptotic family member PUMA whose expression increases as a consequence of culture in DM. Herein, we investigate the mitochondrial disruption as a consequence of culture in differentiation media and identify the pro-apoptotic family member PUMA (p53 up-regulated modulator of apoptosis) as an additional contributor to this apoptotic process in skeletal myoblasts. Finally, we suggest that PUMA expression may be controlled by MyoD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cells and cell culture

All cells were cultured on gelatin-coated plates and maintained in growth medium (GM), which consists of basal modified Eagle's medium (BME), 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and a 1% combination of 10,000 I.U./ml penicillin and 10,000 µg/ml streptomycin (1% P/S). Differentiation was induced and monitored after switching cells from growth medium to differentiation medium (DM), which consists of BME, 1% P/S and 10% FBS (2, 17-20, 35-38). Cells were incubated at 37°C in 5% CO2. 23A2 myoblasts are a clonal line of determined myoblasts derived by 5-azacytidine conversion (39). The caspase 9 inhibitor, z-LEHD-fmk, and the p53 inhibitor, pifithrin, were each dissolved in DMSO. Cycloheximide (CHX) was dissolved in methanol. Appropriate volumes of DMSO or methanol alone were added to control cultures and did not exceed 0.15% v/v.

Total cellular, cytosolic and mitochondrial lysate preparation

Myoblasts were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM. For total cell lysates, cells were lysed in 1x p21 buffer (20 mM MOPS pH 7.4, 200 mM Sucrose, 5 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT) containing 1% CHAPS, protease inhibitors (aprotinin, leupeptin, pepstatin, PMSF) and phosphatase inhibitors. For cytosolic (S100) and mitochondrial (P10) lysates, cells were harvested by trypsinization and subjected to centrifugation at 1000xg for 10 minutes. The pellet was washed twice with phosphate buffered saline and suspended in 5 volumes of buffer A (20 mM Hepes-KOH pH 7.5, 10 mM KCL,

1.5 mM MgCl2, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT) containing 250 mM sucrose and protease inhibitors (aprotinin, leupeptin, pepstatin, PMSF). Cells were homogenized by 10 strokes in a 2 ml Kontes glass Dounce homogenizer. Lysates were subjected to centrifugation at 750xg for 5 minutes and the resulting supernatant was subjected to centrifugation at 10,000xg for 15 minutes. The resulting pellet was designated as the P10 fraction while the supernatant was subjected to centrifugation at 100,000xg for 45 minutes. The resulting supernatant was designated as the S100 fraction. All centrifugation was performed at 40°C. The protein concentrations of all lysates were determined using Coomassie Protein Assay Reagent from Pierce as per the manufacturer's instructions.

Analysis of cytosolic cytochrome C

ELISA: Cytosolic cytochrome C was measured using the Quantikine M cytochrome C ELISA kit per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 10 μ g (50 μ l) of each S100 fraction was added to a well of a flat-bottomed microtiter plate precoated with monoclonal anti-cytochrome C antibody. To this, 75 μ l of anti-cytochrome C antibody conjugated to horse-radish peroxidase (HRP) was added. After two hours rocking at room temperature, wells were washed three times prior to the addition of HRP substrate. After 30 minutes, an equal volume of STOP solution was added and product was measured on a spectrophotometer at 450nm. Experiments were performed within the linear range of the assay.

Immunostaining

23A2 cells were plated at 105 cells per chamber slide and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM for 3 hours. Cells were then washed with PBS and fixed in freshly prepared formaldehyde at room temperature for 25 minutes. After washing three times in PBS, the fixed cells were permeabilized in 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 15 minutes prior to incubation for 30 minutes in blocking buffer (5% bovine serum albumin in PBS). Cells were then incubated for 4 hours either with a mouse monoclonal antibody against cytochrome C at 1:200 dilution (Pharmingen) or no antibody. After washing three times for 10 minutes each in blocking buffer, the cells were incubated with a fluorescein-conjugated donky anti-mouse IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch) at 1:200 for one hour. The cells were then washed in PBS three times at 10 minutes each followed by staining with 1 μ g/ml DAPI (Molecular Probe). Images were acquired using a Leica TCS SP2 laser scanning spectral confocal microscope and analyzed using Image Pro Plus 5.0. Over 250 cells from different fields were analyzed by two investigators without prior knowledge of sample identity.

Immunostain for MHC

23A2 cells were plated at 105 cells per chamber slide and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM for 48 hours. Cells were processed and counted as above except that the primary antibody was MF20. Images were visualized using an Olympus IX71 microscope.

Cytosolic nucleosome ELISA

The presence of cytosolic nucleosomes indicative of DNA fragmentation and nuclear membrane disruption was used as a marker for apoptosis. Myoblasts were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM. We have carefully correlated cell density and time in DM with the level of cytosolic nucleosomes and the percentage of myoblasts undergoing apoptosis. Through this analysis we determined that, when myoblasts are plated at a density of 4x10⁵ cells per 100 mm dish, the level of cytosolic nucleosomes present after eight hours of culture in DM is representative of the 30% of myoblasts that finally undergo apoptosis (4, 23). Thus, analysis of cytosolic nucleosomes is generally performed under these conditions. Cytosolic nucleosomes were measured using the Cell Death Detection ELISA Plus Kit (Roche Diagnostics) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, attached cells were rinsed in PBS and then lysed by incubation in 300 μ L cell lysis buffer from the kit on a rocker for 30 minutes at room temperature. Twenty microliters of each sample was transferred to a 96-well, flat-bottomed, streptavidin-coated microtiter plate. Seventy-two microliters of 1x incubation buffer from the kit and 4 µL each of biotin conjugated anti-histone antibody and peroxidase conjugated anti-DNA antibody was added to the lysate in the microtiter plate and incubated at 4°C overnight. Following three washes with 300 µL of incubation buffer, the presence of cytosolic nucleosomes was measured by adding 100 μ L of the substrate, ABTS. Absorbance at 405 nm was measured at 60 second intervals using a

spectrophotometer. Values were taken from the time point where all samples were within the linear range of the assay for each individual experiment.

Quantitative RT-PCR

Myoblasts were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM with or without additional treatment. Total RNA was prepared using 1 mL of Trizol (Invitrogen) reagent per plate for lysis and following the manufacturer's instructions. Five hundred μ g of RNA was then used for a 20 μ L SuperScript II RT (Invitrogen) reverse transcription reaction. Two μ L of this reaction was used for quantitative PCR, with 0.3 μ M each primer (for PUMA, forward:

5'GTCCGCGCCCCTTCCCGCTC and Reverse:

5'GGTGGGGCCTCCTGCCAGGG for myogenin, forward:

5'ATGCACTGGAGTTCGGTCC and reverse:

5'GACAGACAATCTCAGTTGGGC) and SYBR green reagent (DyNAmo, MJ Research) in a total of 20 μ L. Fluorescence was detected using an Opticon Monitor (MJ Research). The cycle number at which the amplification of product began linearly increasing (cycle threshold (Ct) value) was taken from the Opticon software and normalized as described (18).

Immunoblot analysis

Following protein determination, lysates (150 μ g of the S100 and P10 lysate for cytochrome C oxidase (COX) and 100 μ g of total cellular lysate for Bax, Bim, PUMA, MHC and myogenin) were denatured in 5x sample buffer (10% SDS,

50% glycerol, 10% 2-mercaptoethanol, pH 6.8) and electrophoresed through denaturing polyacrylamide gels (12% for COX, Bax, Bim and PUMA and 10% for MHC and myogenin). Following SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), samples were transferred electrophoretically for four amp hours to Hybond-P polyvinylidene difluoride membranes in transfer buffer containing 80% methanol and 1 g/L SDS. Membranes were blocked for one hour in 1xTBS/0.1% NP40 with 10% newborn calf serum and 5% dry milk. The following primary antibodies were incubated with the appropriate membranes: anti-COX antibody (A-6403, Molecular Probes) diluted 1:500, anti-PUMA antibody (Abcam) diluted anti-myogenin 1:500. anti-Bax. anti-Bim and antibodies (each from BDPharmingen) each diluted 1:1000, anti-MHC MF20 monoclonal antibody and anti-actin (Sigma) diluted 1:30,000. Appropriate HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies, each diluted 1:1000, were incubated with the membranes for one After each incubation with antibody and prior to the addition of hour. chemiluminescent substrate, membranes were washed five times in 1xTBS (trisbuffered saline pH 7.4) with 1% NP-40. Membranes were then incubated with SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce) for 60 seconds and bands were visualized using Kodak Scientific Imaging Film.

Silencing

Lentiviral shRNA Silencing Construct - The murine PUMA-specific shRNA expressing lentiviral vector was purchased from OPEN Biosystems. The pLKO.1 puro vector is ligated with a 59-mer oligonucleotide containing a hairpin of 21

base-pair sense and antisense stem and a 6 base-pair loop. The sequence of oligonucleotide was as follows (sense and antisense stem in bold, loop in underlined letters, restriction enzyme sites in italics and the Pol III termination signal in lowercase letter):

5'-

CCGGGAGGGTCATGTACAATCTCTTCTCGAGAAGAGATTGTACATGGACC CTCttttt-3

Lentiviral production and infection - The recombinant lentiviruses were produced by co-transfection of 293-T cells in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin with pLKO.1-PUMA shRNA (or pLKO.1 puro), pCMV-VSV-G and pHR' CMV-dR8.2 plasmids at a ratio of 2:1:2 using lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). Second generation packaging plasmids and assistance were kindly provided by Dr. Gudkov, Lerner Research Institute, Cleveland, Ohio. Lentiviral-containing supernatant was harvested at 24, 48 and 72 hours post-transfection, 0.22 µM-filtered and snap-frozen at -70 °C. Transduction of 23A2 cells with recombinant lentivirus was conducted in the presence of 10 µg/ml polybrene for 12 hours. Following lentiviral infection, the cells were selected in 2.5 µg/ml puromycin for 4 days to eliminate uninfected cells. Individual puromycin resistant colonies were then isolated and propagated for further analysis. PUMA levels in parental cells and in each clone were assessed by Western analysis. PUMA levels did not change within each of the cell treatment groups through serial cell passages.

RESULTS

There is a correlation between the release of cytochrome C and the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation

We have previously reported that caspase 3 is maximally activated after three hours of culture in DM and that caspase 3 activity plays a role in the apoptosis associated with differentiation in skeletal myoblasts (2). Caspase 9 is an initiator caspase capable of activating caspase 3 in other systems (40). Others in our laboratory have shown that culturing of 23A2 myoblasts in DM results in activation of caspases 9 and 3, downstream molecules of mitochondria. It was also observed that a dose dependent, and nearly complete, inhibition of caspase 9 activity by LEHD-fmk corresponds to a dose dependent, albeit not complete, inhibition of caspase 3 activity and the ensuing apoptosis. The activation of caspase 9 suggested that cytochrome C had been released from the Subcellular fractionation studies performed in our lab mitochondria (41). confirmed the release of cytochrome C from mitochondria into the cytosol as 23A2 myoblasts are switched from GM to DM. In addition, it was shown that the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis required new protein synthesis. We have previously determined that 30%+/-4 of myoblasts undergo apoptosis (2). To determine if there is any correlation between the percentage of cells displaying mitochondrial release of cytochrome C and the percentage of cells undergoing apoptosis, we performed immunostaining analysis using confocal microscopy to assess the mitochondrial release of cytochrome C. Using this approach, we determined that 29%+/-3 of myoblasts have released mitochondrial cytochrome

C into the cytosol (Fig. 2.1A). We also assessed the percentage of cells with altered mitochondrial membrane potential using the MitoCapture Apoptosis detection kit (CalBiochem) that employs a cationic dye that fluoresces red when aggregated in the mitochondria. In apoptotic cells, this dye fails to aggregate in the mitochondria due to the altered mitochondrial membrane potential and fluoresces green. Using this approach, we determined that 30%+/-3 of myoblasts display altered mitochondrial membrane potential. To determine if this disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential requires *de novo* protein synthesis, cultures were switched to GM or DM supplemented with cycloheximide (CHX) sufficient to inhibit new protein synthesis (data not shown). The inclusion of CHX was sufficient to prevent the disruption in mitochondrial membrane potential (Fig. 2.1B).



Figure 2.1 Culture in differentiation medium induces the mitochondrial release of cytochrome С and disruption of mitochondrial membrane. Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in DM for the indicated time in (A) or 3 h in (B). In (A), the mitochondrial release of cytochrome C was visualized by immunostaining for cytochrome C as described in Materials and methods. In (B), the disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential was determined in the presence or absence of cycloheximide (CHX) by mitocapture detection kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Error bars represent the standard deviation of the mean from three values from two independent experiments.

Inhibition of elevated PUMA levels blocks the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis

The pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl2 family are regulated by increased expression and/or sub-cellular redistribution to the mitochondria (22-24). Since the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis relies on new protein synthesis, and because our lab previously focused on discerning which of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family members were regulated at the level of expression, we found that PUMA is the only member of the Bcl2 family whose expression is increased both at the level of mRNA and protein in 23A2 cells as a consequence of culture in DM. We therefore focused our attention on PUMA. In order to determine if this increase in expression of PUMA is required for the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis, we utilized RNAi. Recombinant lentiviruses were produced by co-transfection of 293-T cells with the murine PUMA-specific shRNA expressing lentiviral vector, pLKO.1-PUMA shRNA (or control vector pLKO.1 puro), pCMV-VSV-G and pHR' CMV-dR8.2 plasmids. Transduced 23A2 myoblasts were then selected in PUMA expression in untreated parental 23A2 myoblasts (P), a puromycin. vector alone-transduced 23A2 myoblast clone (C) and PUMA shRNAtransduced myoblast clones (23A2:shPUMA clones), each cultured in DM for two hours, was monitored by Western blot analysis (Fig. 2.2A) and RT-qPCR (Fig. 2.2B). Clones 1 and 5 displayed reduced levels of PUMA protein and mRNA and were analyzed further. Clones 1 and 5, when compared to parental and vector control were each found to be repressed in the release of mitochondrial cytochrome C (Fig. 2.3A) and apoptosis (Fig. 2.3B) after culture in DM.



Figure 2.2 Lentiviral-mediated Puma suppression in skeletal myoblasts For stable and specific silencing of PUMA, a shRNA against PUMA RNA was used to induce silencing. Transduced cells were grown and analyzed. Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in fresh GM or DM. In (A), myoblasts were cultured in DM for 2 hours prior to analysis of Puma protein by Western analysis as described in Fig. 2. In (B), myoblasts were cultured in fresh GM or DM for 2 hours prior to analysis of Puma mRNA levels by RT-qPCR. Fold increase is relative to the result obtained in GM. Shown is an average of 3 experiments (mean +/-SEM).



A)

B)

shPuma clones

Figure 2.3 Lentiviral-mediated Puma suppression inhibits apoptosis and blocks cytochrome C release in skeletal myoblasts. In (A), myoblasts, 23A2 control and silenced clones for PUMA expression were cultured in fresh GM or DM for 3 hours prior to analysis of cytosolic cytochrome C as described in material and methods. In (B), myoblasts and silenced clones were cultured for six hours prior to the determination of DNA fragmentation using the Cell Death Detection ELISA Plus kit from Roche. Shown is an average of 3 experiments (mean +/- SEM).

Inhibition of elevated PUMA levels allows skeletal myoblast differentiation

Apoptosis and differentiation of skeletal myoblasts are mutually exclusive events. To elucidate the effect of PUMA suppression and inhibition of caspase 9 activity on differentiation, we used a pharmacological inhibitor against caspase 9 activity and PUMA suppressed clones. Using this approach we showed that either abrogation of caspase 9 activity or silencing of PUMA expression did not affect the ability of myoblasts to undergo differentiation as monitored by the expression of myosin heavy chain (Fig. 2.4A and B). Finally, the fact that the same percentage of cells stain positive for MHC in both the presence and absence of the caspase 9 inhibitor LEHD-fmk, and in both clones silenced and not silenced for PUMA expression, indicates that the myoblasts rescued from apoptosis can indeed differentiate. If they could not differentiate, one would expect that the percentage of cells staining positive for MHC would be reduced in the presence of LEHD-fmk and in the clones silenced for PUMA expression. Similarly, since equal protein is loaded, one would expect a reduction in the amount of MHC detected by Western analysis in the presence of LEHD-fmk, and in the clones silenced for PUMA expression, if the cells rescued from apoptosis could not differentiate.



Figure 2.4 PUMA silencing or caspase 9 inhibition does not prevent myogenesis . Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in DM for 18 hours in the presence or absence of LEHD. In (A) Western blot analysis of 23A2 cell, control, silenced clones for PUMA using anti-MHC and anti-actin (control) antibodies. In (B) the percent of cells expressing MHC was assessed by immunostaining using anti-MHC and Texas Red conjugated anti-mouse IgG (Invitrogen). 10 different field of 100 cells were analyzed by two independent investigators. Error bars represent the standard deviation of the mean from three values from two independent experiments.

Increased expression of PUMA in 23A2 cells as a consequence of culture in DM is p53-independent

Since increased expression of PUMA was originally observed in response to activation of the transcription factor p53 (25-27), we used pifithrin, a selective pharmacological inhibitor of p53 (42), to examine a potential role for p53 in the induction of PUMA as a consequence of culture in DM. A role for p53 in the differentiation of skeletal myoblasts is well established (16, 43) so we first assessed the effect of pifithrin on differentiation as monitored by the expression of myogenin. As predicted, pifithrin inhibited the expression of myogenin mRNA and protein as a consequence of culture in DM (Fig. 2.5A,B). Pifithrin, however, had no detectable effect on the increased expression of PUMA mRNA or protein (Fig. 2.6 A,B) or the release of cytochrome C (Fig. 2.7A). Finally, Pifithrin had no detectable effect on the apoptosis of skeletal myoblasts as monitored by DNA fragmentation (Fig. 2.7B). This is consistent with previous reports employing dominant negative mutants of p53 as well as p53-/- cells which indicate that p53 is not involved in the apoptosis of skeletal myoblasts as a consequence of culture in DM (16).



Figure 2.5 Pifithrin, a pharmacological inhibitor of P53 activity prevents differentiation of skeletal myoblasts as a consequence of culture in DM Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in fresh GM or DM for 18 h with or without the p53 inhibitor Pifithrin as indicated. In (A), quantitative RT-PCR was performed using the Quantitect SyBr Green PCR kit (Quiagen) as described in Material and Methods. Fold increase is relative to results obtained in GM. Shown is an average of 3 experiments (mean \pm SEM). In (B), whole cell extracts were prepared 100 µg of total protein was separated by SDS-PAGE. Western analysis was performed using anti-myogenin or anti-actin (load control). Shown are results from one experiment that are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 2.6 Inhibition of p53 activity by pifithrin does not prevent the increase in expression of PUMA mRNA and protein as a consequence of culture in DM Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in fresh GM or DM for 3 h with or without the p53 inhibitor Pifithrin as indicated. In (A), quantitative RT-PCR was performed using the Quantitect SyBr Green PCR kit (Quiagen) as described in Material and Methods. Fold increase is relative to results obtained in GM. Shown is an average of 3 experiments (mean \pm SEM). In (B) whole cell extracts were prepared 70 (g of total protein was separated by SDS-PAGE. Western analysis was performed using anti-PUMA antibody or anti-actin (load control). Shown are results from one experiment that are representative of three independent experiments. Error bars represent mean + SEM.



A)

B)

Figure 2.7 Inhibition of p53 activity does not affect the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis in 23A2 cells as a consequence of culture in DM Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in DM in the presence or absence of the inhibitor for the indicated time: 3 hrs in (A) and 6 hrs in (B). In (A), cytochrome C release was measured in the S100 fraction using Quantikine M cytochrome C ELISA kit from R&D. S100 fraction purity was det ermined by Western blot analysis using mitochondrial cytochrome C oxidase as described in Material and Methods. In (B), myoblasts were cultured in DM in the presence or absence of the inhibitor 6 hours prior to the determination of DNA fragmentation using the Cell Death Detection ELISA Plus kit from Roche. This is an average of three independent experiments (mean ± SEM).

Increased expression of PUMA, mitochondrial release of cytochrome C and apoptosis are induced by activation of MyoD

Others in our laboratory have previously shown a correlation between MyoD expression levels and apoptosis in 23A2 cells. Myoblasts expressing oncogenic Ras were reported to have decreased apoptosis, which correlated with decreased levels of MyoD expression (35). This finding prompted us to hypothesize that MyoD activation might be sufficient to induce the expression of PUMA, cytochrome C release and apoptosis. To test this hypothesis, we examined the ability of 10T1/2 fibroblasts stably expressing a conditionally active estrogen-receptor:MyoD fusion protein (ER:MyoD:10T1/2)(44) to undergo apoptosis in response to estrogen. Since the estrogen receptor is not expressed in these cells, ER:MyoD is the only estradiol target (data not shown). Treatment of ER:MyoD:10T1/2 cells with 1 μ M of estradiol resulted in estradiol-dependent activation of MyoD which was verified by immunoblot analysis of myogenin and this activation of MyoD was sufficient to induce differentiation comparable to that observed in 23A2 myoblasts (Fig. 2.8A). Comparison of estradiol treated and not treated ER:MyoD:10T1/2 cells indicates that this MyoD activation is also sufficient to induce apoptosis (Fig. 2.8B) and the increased expression of PUMA (Fig. 2.9A & B). Finally, estradiol treatment of ER:MyoD 10T1/2 cells, induced the increased expression of PUMA (Fig. 2.9A &B) but not 10T1/2 fibroblasts (Fig. 2.9C).



Figure 2.8 10T1/2 fibroblast cells stably expressing ER:MyoD fusion protein undergo apoptosis in response to estradiol

Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in fresh GM or DM with or without 1μ M estradiol for 4 hours. In (A), Western blot analysis using ant-myogenin antibody (BD Bioscience) to confirm activation of MyoD. In (B) equal 23A2 cell numbers were plated. The next day, 23A2 cells were treated with one μ M estradiol in GM. 23A2 cells then were switched to DM as indicated for six hours prior to the determination of DNA fragmentation using the Cell Death Detection ELISA Plus kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol. This result is an average of three independent experiments (mean ± SEM).


Figure 2.9 Increased level of PUMA as a consequence of activation of ER:MyoD in 10T1/2 fibroblasts Equal cell numbers were plated and the next day cultured in fresh GM or DM with or without 1 μ M estradiol for 4 hours. In (A), quantitative RT-PCR was performed as described in Materials and methods. Fold increase in DM is relative to results obtained in GM. Shown is an average of 3 experiments (mean +/- SEM). In (C), whole cell extracts were prepared after culture in DM for 4 hrs and 100 μ g of total protein was separated by SDS-PAGE. Western analysis was performed using anti-Puma (Abcam) or anti-actin (load control). In (D), 10T1/2 treated or untreated with estrogen for 3 hours. This is an average of three independent experiments (mean ± SEM).

DISCUSSION

It is well established that differentiation and apoptosis are coordinately regulated in many systems which can be broadly divided into two groups. In some systems, apoptosis contributes to the differentiation process while in others apoptosis serves the purpose of eliminating excess cells (45, 46). The skeletal myoblast model system is a member of the latter group (46). Elucidating the molecules that mediate the apoptotic process in skeletal myoblasts has revealed a role for caspase 3 and the TRAIL/DR5/FADD/caspase 8/tBid pathway (2, 17) while expression of Bcl2 confers resistance (47). We report herein the novel observation that mitochondrial cytochrome C is released into the cytosol upon removal of serum and plays a role in the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation. Further, we report that the pro-apoptotic Bcl2-family member PUMA contributes to this release of cytochrome C and the ensuing apoptosis. While the involvement of PUMA in the release of mitochondrial cytochrome C has been established previously (26), this is the first report to document a role for the increased expression of PUMA in the release of mitochondrial cytochrome C and the ensuing apoptosis of skeletal myoblasts as a consequence of culture in differentiation media. Additionally, we have also shown that PUMA is not required for skeletal myoblast differentiation.

PUMA was originally identified through global profiling as a p53-inducible gene and through a yeast two-hybrid screen as a Bcl2 interacting protein (25-27). We have used the selective p53 pharmacological inhibitor pifithrin to rule out a role for p53 in the induction of PUMA, the mitochondrial release of cytochrome C

and apoptosis in this system. These findings are in agreement with previous reports indicating that the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation as a consequence of culture in DM is p53-independent (16). PUMA is also a transcriptional target of the p53 family member p73. The regulation of p73 is complex in that it is transcribed from two promoters, one permitting the expression of a transactivation competent (TA) protein and the other permitting the expression of a dominant negative (DN) protein (48). As a consequence of alternative splicing, each of these can be expressed as seven isoforms ($\alpha\beta\gamma\delta\epsilon\xi\Box$ and η) with both overlapping and distinct functions. PUMA is among the transcriptional targets shared by TAp73 and p53 in that ectopically expressed TAp73 α , β and γ isoforms can increase the expression of PUMA and induce apoptosis in p53-null Saos cells (49). Recently, a role for p73 has been investigated in both the differentiation and the apoptosis of C2C12 skeletal myoblasts (50, 51). In C2C12 myoblasts, expression levels of TAp73 β are rapidly decreased within one hour of culture in DM while expression levels of both TAp73 α and DNp73 α are simultaneously and similarly modestly increased with Forced expression of either isoform inhibited the culture in DM (50). differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts by roughly 50% suggesting that the timing of their expression is critical (50, 51). Further, a decrease in the apoptosis of C2C12 myoblasts was observed when TAp73 α was silenced while an increase in the apoptosis of C2C12 myoblasts was observed when DNp73 α was silenced. PUMA levels, however, were not assessed (50). We have detected an increase in PUMA expression as a consequence of culturing C2C12 myoblasts in DM (A.

Shaltouki, unpublished). We speculate, however, that the simultaneous and similar increase of both TAp73 α and DNp73 α would balance their opposing effects on apoptosis. Thus, while direct studies on p73 need to be performed, we suggest that p73 does not play a role in the increased expression of PUMA in skeletal myoblasts cultured in DM.

p53/p73 independent increased expression of PUMA has also been reported. Specifically, glucocorticoid treatment increases PUMA expression and apoptosis in primary thymocytes and serum deprivation increases PUMA expression and apoptosis in several tumor cell lines (27). The increase in PUMA expression in tumor cells in response to serum deprivation can be reversed by serum or specific growth factors and this reversal is prevented by inhibition of In vivo, myoblasts are maintained in a proliferative and PI3-kinase (27). undifferentiated state by certain mitogens. Differentiation is induced in response to decreasing gradients of these mitogens when myoblasts have appropriately migrated. To mimic this, the in vitro differentiation of skeletal myoblasts is initiated by serum deprivation (52). Thus, skeletal myoblasts are a nontransformed cell type in which serum deprivation as a consequence of culture in differentiation media correlates with increased expression of PUMA and apoptosis. While we report herein that p53 does not appear to play a role in the increased expression of PUMA in skeletal myoblasts, we have previously reported that PI3-kinase activity decreases during the time period in which PUMA induction is observed (18). Further, PI3K/Akt signaling does play a role in

myoblast survival during differentiation (53, 54). Decreased signaling through the PI3-kinase pathway allows nuclear localization of the FOXO3a transcription factor (55). Thus, the PI3-kinase/FOXO pathway may be responsible for the increased PUMA expression in skeletal myoblasts. However, this pathway is also responsible for increased expression of TRAIL and the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family member Bim (56, 57) in other systems and the expression level of neither of these proteins is increased as a consequence of culture in differentiation media ((17) and herein). Interestingly, 10T1/2 fibroblasts, from which 23A2 myoblasts are derived (39), do not undergo apoptosis in response to culture in differentiation media. Further, when cultured in differentiation media, PI3-kinase activity decreases similarly in 10T1/2 fibroblasts and skeletal myoblasts (18) and C.M. Weyman, unpublished), yet PUMA induction in these fibroblasts is less than that observed in the skeletal myoblasts (A. Shaltouki, unpublished). Thus, we believe that the PI3-kinase/FOXO3a pathway cannot completely explain the increased PUMA expression in skeletal myoblasts and future experiments are focused on determining the mechanism responsible for this increase.

The irreversible nature of the apoptotic process necessitates that induction of such is tightly controlled and often requires the engagement of multiple proapoptotic molecules. For instance, increased expression of Hrk and Bim are required for neuronal apoptosis while many p53-regulated proteins such Fas, DR5, FLIP, Noxa, PUMA, Bax and Bad are associated with apoptosis in response to DNA damage (24, 58). Further, increased expression of PUMA in

response to DNA damage in fibroblasts induces quiescence rather than Speculation as to why thymocytes undergo apoptosis while apoptosis. fibroblasts become quiescent is the need for cooperation between PUMA and other pro-apoptotic molecules (24). Recently, both PUMA and Bim have been shown to contribute to lymphocyte development and to the death of activated Tcells (59, 60). While herein we report that the skeletal myoblast apoptosis as a consequence of culture in differentiation media requires increased expression of PUMA, we have previously reported that this apoptotic process also requires signaling through the TRAIL/DR5/FADD/caspase8 cleavage of Bid pathway. As is the case with some of the myoblasts in which PUMA has been silenced, some of the myoblasts expressing dominant negative mutants of FADD or DR5 will eventually undergo apoptosis (A. Shaltouki and J. O'Flaherty, unpublished). Thus, cooperation between PUMA and other pro-apoptotic molecules such as t-Bid is required for the efficient apoptosis that occurs in some skeletal myoblasts as a consequence of culture in differentiation media. Similarly, some of the myoblasts treated with the caspase 9 inhibitor will eventually undergo apoptosis (A. Shaltouki unpublished) suggesting a role for the permeabilization of the mitochondria and the ensuing release of factors capable of mediating caspase independent apoptosis. However, this delay in the apoptotic process caused by inhibiting caspase 9 or by preventing the elevation of PUMA is sufficient to reduce the number of apoptotic myoblasts. Further, those rescued are competent for differentiation. These findings could be useful in efforts to treat disease states associated with muscle degeneration and to the effectiveness of

any treatment utilizing skeletal myoblast transfer. Thus, it is noteworthy that silencing of PUMA does not inhibit skeletal myoblast differentiation.

While our studies performed on cultured myoblasts clearly demonstrate a role for PUMA in the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation, PUMA -/- mice develop normally with no obvious muscle related phenotype (31). A defective apoptotic phenotype in thymocytes and the developing nervous system of PUMA -/- mice is, however, observed in response to DNA damaging agents such as ionizing radiation. Further, a defective apoptotic phenotype can be detected in thymocytes derived from PUMA -/- mice in response to glucocorticoid, and in myeloid progenitors in response to Myc activation and IL-6 deprivation (31). Thus, although PUMA appears to play no role in the normal development of hematopoietic cells, PUMA clearly contributes to cell death in response to certain stress conditions. We, therefore, speculate that lack of a developmental muscle phenotype could indicate either that this pathway has no role during developmental myogenesis or that compensatory signaling negates detection of such a role. Further, a reduced apoptotic phenotype in PUMA -/skeletal myoblasts might only be observed in response to specific stimuli such as conditions that lead to muscle wasting or regeneration, or in the context of myoblast transplantation (4, 61, 62). Finally, research on the molecules controlling the apoptotic process in human muscle has necessarily lagged behind studies performed in culture or in mice. These studies have suggested a role for caspase 3 (12) (63-65). The results presented herein suggest that assessing the

expression of PUMA, possibly as a molecule functioning prior to caspase 3 activation, is warranted. These future studies, combined with further analysis to understand the molecular mechanisms mediating the increased level of PUMA as a consequence of culture in differentiation media, might identify additional therapeutic targets for manipulation relevant to the use of myoblast transfer as a therapeutic approach or to modify skeletal myoblast apoptosis relevant to the amelioration of disease states with associated muscle degeneration.

We also report here a pro-apoptotic role for the muscle regulatory transcription factor MyoD. Our previous report suggested that the survival of Ras expressing myoblasts correlates with decreased levels of MyoD expression (35) 23A2 myoblasts are derived from 10T1/2 fibroblasts. 23A2 myoblasts express MyoD while 10T1/2 fibroblasts do not (39). 23A2 myoblasts undergo apoptosis in response to culture in DM while 10T1/2 fibroblasts do not (2). Increased expression of pro-apoptotic molecules by other transcription factors, notably p53 (23, 66) has been documented. p53 has the dual capacity to induce either growth arrest or apoptosis (67), while MyoD has the capacity to induce growth arrest and differentiation or apoptosis. p53, however, is ubiquitously expressed and responsive to DNA damage (67) while MyoD expression is restricted to skeletal muscle and responsive to differentiation cues (68). To our knowledge, the only other report of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors shown to play a role in apoptosis are the Daughterless-like (HLH-2) and Achaete-scutelike (HLH-3) bHLH transcription factors responsible for inducing apoptosis during neuronal development in *C.elegans* (69). Here, we demonstrated that estradiol-

induced activation of MyoD:ER fusion protein in DM was sufficient to result in the increased expression of PUMA and apoptosis. In light of this information, the ability of MyoD to induce growth arrest and differentiation or apoptosis is redolent of p53 function. These data were consistent with other published reports suggesting that MyoD may play a role in apoptosis (70).

CONCLUSION

Mitochondrial release of cytochrome C, activation of caspase 9 and the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation require de novo protein synthesis. PUMA was identified in a search for increased expression of pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family members as a consequence of culturing skeletal myoblasts in differentiation media. Stable RNAi mediated silencing of this increase in PUMA expression decreases the mitochondrial release of cytochrome C and the ensuing apoptosis. Myoblasts rescued from apoptosis by either inhibition of elevated caspase 9 activity or silencing of PUMA are competent for differentiation. As p53 does not play a role in this apoptotic process, experiments are underway to understand the regulation of PUMA in this system. Finally, we showed that activation of MyoD is sufficient to induce apoptosis through the increased expression of PUMA.

REFERENCES:

- 1. **Sandri M, Carraro U** 1999 Apoptosis of skeletal muscles during development and disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31:1373-90
- 2. **Dee K, Freer M, Mei Y, Weyman CM** 2002 Apoptosis coincident with the differentiation of skeletal myoblasts is delayed by caspase 3 inhibition and abrogated by MEK-independent constitutive Ras signaling. Cell Death Differ 9:209-18
- 3. **Miller JB, Stockdale FE** 1986 Developmental regulation of the multiple myogenic cell lineages of the avian embryo. J Cell Biol 103:2197-208
- 4. **Fidzianska A, Goebel HH** 1991 Human ontogenesis. 3. Cell death in fetal muscle. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 81:572-7
- 5. **Sandri M, El Meslemani AH, Sandri C, et al.** 2001 Caspase 3 expression correlates with skeletal muscle apoptosis in Duchenne and facioscapulo human muscular dystrophy. A potential target for pharmacological treatment? J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 60:302-12
- 6. **Skuk D, Tremblay JP** 2003 Cell therapies for inherited myopathies. Curr Opin Rheumatol 15:723-9
- Skuk D, Tremblay JP 2003 Myoblast transplantation: the current status of a potential therapeutic tool for myopathies. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 24:285-300
- Skuk D, Caron NJ, Goulet M, Roy B, Tremblay JP 2003 Resetting the problem of cell death following muscle-derived cell transplantation: detection, dynamics and mechanisms. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 62:951-67
- 9. **Menasche P** 2004 Myoblast transfer in heart failure. Surg Clin North Am 84:125-39
- 10. **Menasche P** 2004 Skeletal myoblast transplantation for cardiac repair. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2:21-8
- 11. **Ciammola A, Sassone J, Alberti L, et al.** 2006 Increased apoptosis, Huntingtin inclusions and altered differentiation in muscle cell cultures from Huntington's disease subjects. Cell Death Differ 13:2068-78

- 12. **Du J, Wang X, Miereles C, et al.** 2004 Activation of caspase-3 is an initial step triggering accelerated muscle proteolysis in catabolic conditions. J Clin Invest 113:115-23
- 13. **Wang J, Walsh K** 1996 Resistance to apoptosis conferred by Cdk inhibitors during myocyte differentiation. Science 273:359-61
- 14. **Wang J, Guo K, Wills KN, Walsh K** 1997 Rb functions to inhibit apoptosis during myocyte differentiation. Cancer Res 57:351-4
- 15. **Nakanishi K, Sudo T, Morishima N** 2005 Endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling transmitted by ATF6 mediates apoptosis during muscle development. J Cell Biol 169:555-60
- 16. **Cerone MA, Marchetti A, Bossi G, Blandino G, Sacchi A, Soddu S** 2000 p53 is involved in the differentiation but not in the differentiationassociated apoptosis of myoblasts. Cell Death Differ 7:506-8
- 17. **O'Flaherty J, Mei Y, Freer M, Weyman CM** 2006 Signaling through the TRAIL receptor DR5/FADD pathway plays a role in the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation. Apoptosis 11:2103-13
- 18. **Karasarides M, Dee K, Schulman D, Wolfman A, Weyman CM** 2006 Active Ras-induced effects on skeletal myoblast differentiation and apoptosis are independent of constitutive PI3-kinase activity. Cell Biol Int
- 19. **Dee K, DeChant A, Weyman CM** 2003 Differential signaling through NFkappaB does not ameliorate skeletal myoblast apoptosis during differentiation. FEBS Lett 545:246-52
- 20. **DeChant AK, Dee K, Weyman CM** 2002 Raf-induced effects on the differentiation and apoptosis of skeletal myoblasts are determined by the level of Raf signaling: abrogation of apoptosis by Raf is downstream of caspase 3 activation. Oncogene 21:5268-79
- 21. Mercer SE, Ewton DZ, Deng X, Lim S, Mazur TR, Friedman E 2005 Mirk/Dyrk1B mediates survival during the differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts. J Biol Chem 280:25788-801
- 22. **Kuwana T, Newmeyer DD** 2003 Bcl-2-family proteins and the role of mitochondria in apoptosis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 15:691-9
- 23. **Scorrano L, Korsmeyer SJ** 2003 Mechanisms of cytochrome c release by proapoptotic BCL-2 family members. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 304:437-44

- 24. **Puthalakath H, Strasser A** 2002 Keeping killers on a tight leash: transcriptional and post-translational control of the pro-apoptotic activity of BH3-only proteins. Cell Death Differ 9:505-12
- 25. **Yu J, Zhang L, Hwang PM, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B** 2001 PUMA induces the rapid apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cell 7:673-82
- 26. **Nakano K, Vousden KH** 2001 PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. Mol Cell 7:683-94
- 27. Han J, Flemington C, Houghton AB, et al. 2001 Expression of bbc3, a pro-apoptotic BH3-only gene, is regulated by diverse cell death and survival signals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:11318-23
- 28. **Ming L, Wang P, Bank A, Yu J, Zhang L** 2006 PUMA Dissociates Bax and Bcl-X(L) to induce apoptosis in colon cancer cells. J Biol Chem 281:16034-42
- 29. Li P, Nijhawan D, Budihardjo I, et al. 1997 Cytochrome c and dATPdependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. Cell 91:479-89
- 30. Yu J, Wang Z, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Zhang L 2003 PUMA mediates the apoptotic response to p53 in colorectal cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:1931-6
- 31. **Jeffers JR, Parganas E, Lee Y, et al.** 2003 Puma is an essential mediator of p53-dependent and -independent apoptotic pathways. Cancer Cell 4:321-8
- 32. You H, Pellegrini M, Tsuchihara K, et al. 2006 FOXO3a-dependent regulation of Puma in response to cytokine/growth factor withdrawal. J Exp Med 203:1657-63
- Garrison SP, Jeffers JR, Yang C, et al. 2008 Selection against PUMA gene expression in Myc-driven B-cell lymphomagenesis. Mol Cell Biol 28:5391-402
- 34. **Peschiaroli A, Figliola R, Coltella L, et al.** 2002 MyoD induces apoptosis in the absence of RB function through a p21(WAF1)-dependent re-localization of cyclin/cdk complexes to the nucleus. Oncogene 21:8114-27
- 35. **Weyman CM, Wolfman A** 1997 Oncogenic Ras-induced secretion of a novel inhibitor of skeletal myoblast differentiation. Oncogene 15:2521-8

- 36. Weyman CM, Ramocki MB, Taparowsky EJ, Wolfman A 1997 Distinct signaling pathways regulate transformation and inhibition of skeletal muscle differentiation by oncogenic Ras. Oncogene 14:697-704
- 37. **Weyman CM, Wolfman A** 1998 Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK) activity is required for inhibition of skeletal muscle differentiation by insulin-like growth factor 1 or fibroblast growth factor 2. Endocrinology 139:1794-800
- Vaidya TB, Weyman CM, Teegarden D, Ashendel CL, Taparowsky EJ 1991 Inhibition of myogenesis by the H-ras oncogene: implication of a role for protein kinase C. J Cell Biol 114:809-20
- 39. **Konieczny SF, Emerson CP, Jr.** 1984 5-Azacytidine induction of stable mesodermal stem cell lineages from 10T1/2 cells: evidence for regulatory genes controlling determination. Cell 38:791-800
- 40. **Thornberry NA, Lazebnik Y** 1998 Caspases: enemies within. Science 281:1312-6
- 41. **Orrenius S** 2004 Mitochondrial regulation of apoptotic cell death. Toxicol Lett 149:19-23
- 43. **Porrello A, Cerone MA, Coen S, et al.** 2000 p53 regulates myogenesis by triggering the differentiation activity of pRb. J Cell Biol 151:1295-304
- 44. **Hollenberg SM, Cheng PF, Weintraub H** 1993 Use of a conditional MyoD transcription factor in studies of MyoD trans-activation and muscle determination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:8028-32
- 45. **Zeuner A, Eramo A, Peschle C, De Maria R** 1999 Caspase activation without death. Cell Death Differ 6:1075-80
- 46. Schwerk C, Schulze-Osthoff K 2003 Non-apoptotic functions of caspases in cellular proliferation and differentiation. Biochem Pharmacol 66:1453-8
- 47. **Dominov JA, Dunn JJ, Miller JB** 1998 Bcl-2 expression identifies an early stage of myogenesis and promotes clonal expansion of muscle cells. J Cell Biol 142:537-44
- 48. **Melino G, De Laurenzi V, Vousden KH** 2002 p73: Friend or foe in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 2:605-15

- 49. **Melino G, Bernassola F, Ranalli M, et al.** 2004 p73 Induces apoptosis via PUMA transactivation and Bax mitochondrial translocation. J Biol Chem 279:8076-83
- 50. Belloni L, Moretti F, Merlo P, et al. 2006 DNp73alpha protects myogenic cells from apoptosis. Oncogene 25:3606-12
- 51. Li CY, Zhu J, Wang JY 2005 Ectopic expression of p73alpha, but not p73beta, suppresses myogenic differentiation. J Biol Chem 280:2159-64
- 52. **Olson EN** 1992 Interplay between proliferation and differentiation within the myogenic lineage. Dev Biol 154:261-72
- 53. **Fujio Y, Guo K, Mano T, Mitsuuchi Y, Testa JR, Walsh K** 1999 Cell cycle withdrawal promotes myogenic induction of Akt, a positive modulator of myocyte survival. Mol Cell Biol 19:5073-82
- 54. **Lawlor MA, Rotwein P** 2000 Insulin-like growth factor-mediated muscle cell survival: central roles for Akt and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21. Mol Cell Biol 20:8983-95
- 55. Martinez-Gac L, Alvarez B, Garcia Z, Marques M, Arrizabalaga M, Carrera AC 2004 Phosphoinositide 3-kinase and Forkhead, a switch for cell division. Biochem Soc Trans 32:360-1
- 56. **Gilley J, Coffer PJ, Ham J** 2003 FOXO transcription factors directly activate bim gene expression and promote apoptosis in sympathetic neurons. J Cell Biol 162:613-22
- 57. Wang Q, Wang X, Hernandez A, Hellmich MR, Gatalica Z, Evers BM 2002 Regulation of TRAIL expression by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/GSK-3 pathway in human colon cancer cells. J Biol Chem 277:36602-10
- 58. **Zhao R, Gish K, Murphy M, et al.** 2000 Analysis of p53-regulated gene expression patterns using oligonucleotide arrays. Genes Dev 14:981-93
- 59. Erlacher M, Labi V, Manzl C, et al. 2006 Puma cooperates with Bim, the rate-limiting BH3-only protein in cell death during lymphocyte development, in apoptosis induction. J Exp Med 203:2939-51
- 60. **Bauer A, Villunger A, Labi V, et al.** 2006 The NF-kappaB regulator Bcl-3 and the BH3-only proteins Bim and Puma control the death of activated T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:10979-84

- 61. **Raff MC** 1992 Social controls on cell survival and cell death. Nature 356:397-400
- 62. **Bouchentouf M, Benabdallah BF, Tremblay JP** 2004 Myoblast survival enhancement and transplantation success improvement by heat-shock treatment in mdx mice. Transplantation 77:1349-56
- 63. Busquets S, Deans C, Figueras M, et al. 2007 Apoptosis is present in skeletal muscle of cachectic gastro-intestinal cancer patients. Clin Nutr
- 64. Adhihetty PJ, Taivassalo T, Haller RG, Walkinshaw DR, Hood DA 2007 The effect of training on the expression of mitochondrial biogenesisand apoptosis- related proteins in skeletal muscle of patients with mtDNA defects. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab
- 65. **Mitch WE, Hu Z, Lee SW, Du J** 2005 Strategies for suppressing muscle atrophy in chronic kidney disease: mechanisms activating distinct proteolytic systems. J Ren Nutr 15:23-7
- 66. **Kelekar A, Thompson CB** 1998 Bcl-2-family proteins: the role of the BH3 domain in apoptosis. Trends Cell Biol 8:324-30
- 67. **Gostissa M, Hofmann TG, Will H, Del Sal G** 2003 Regulation of p53 functions: let's meet at the nuclear bodies. Curr Opin Cell Biol 15:351-7
- 68. **Megeney LA, Rudnicki MA** 1995 Determination versus differentiation and the MyoD family of transcription factors. Biochem Cell Biol 73:723-32
- 69. **Thellmann M, Hatzold J, Conradt B** 2003 The Snail-like CES-1 protein of C. elegans can block the expression of the BH3-only cell-death activator gene egl-1 by antagonizing the function of bHLH proteins. Development 130:4057-71
- 70. **Asakura A, Hirai H, Kablar B, et al.** 2007 Increased survival of muscle stem cells lacking the MyoD gene after transplantation into regenerating skeletal muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:16552-7

CHAPTER III

TRANSLATIONAL REGULATION OF THE PRO-APOPTOTIC BCL2 FAMILY MEMBER PUMA

ABSTRACT

We have previously reported that culture of 23A2 myoblasts in differentiation media (DM) induces an increase in both the mRNA and protein levels of the proapoptotic Bcl2 family member PUMA and that PUMA is critical for the apoptotic process that occurs in a subset of these myoblasts. Herein, we report a novel translational regulation mechanism of PUMA. Specifically, we have determined that culturing of myoblasts in DM with actinomyocin D is sufficient to block the increase in PUMA mRNA levels, but does not prevent the increase in PUMA protein levels. Further, metabolic labeling of newly synthesized proteins in myoblasts cultured in either growth media (GM) or DM supplemented with actinomycin D followed by immunoprecipitation of PUMA has allowed us to conclude that this increase in PUMA protein is a consequence of increased translation. Polyribosome analysis of PUMA mRNA indicated that translational regulation most probably occurs at the initiation step. We have also found that the increase in PUMA protein levels occurs under conditions of eIF2-

alpha phosphorylation and subsequent global decrease in total protein synthesis. Analysis of the 5' UTR of PUMA mRNA by Mfold program predicts stable secondary structures incompatible with efficient ribosome scanning. Further, we have determined that impairment of cap-dependent translation *in vitro* and *in vivo* did not affect the translation of PUMA mRNA. Finally, we have generated data indicating that the increased translation of PUMA in DM is mediated by an internal ribosome entry site (IRES). Using mono- and bi-cistronic reporters, we have identified a fragment of PUMA mRNA that allows for cap-independent translation in vitro and in vivo in response to culture in DM. This fragment encompasses regions upstream and downstream of the initiation AUG codon Thus, our data indicate that increased expression of PUMA in skeletal myoblasts relies on IRES-meditated translation.

INTRODUCTION

Translation Initiation (cap dependent translation)

The regulation of global translation is an important process that allows a cell to respond rapidly in response to environmental cues (1). Regulation of protein synthesis can occur at many steps during the process but in many cases the initiation step is subject to regulation. Initiation begins with binding of the 40S ribosomal subunit to the initiator Met-tRNA-^{Met} in a ternary complex with eukaryotic initiation factor 2α (eIF2 α) and its bound GTP. Initiation of protein synthesis requires recruitment of this small ribosomal subunit to the mRNA (2, 3). This recruitment is mediated by a cap-binding protein complex known as

eukaryotic initiation factor-4F (elF4F). The elF4F complex is composed of 3 subunits. EIF4E(4), the smallest subunit of the eIF4F complex, is a cap-binding protein which recognizes the cap structures (m7GpppN) at the 5'-end of the mRNA. elF4A, another subunit of the elF4F complex, has RNA helicase activity (5), and elF4G (6), the third subunit of elF4F complex, acts as a scaffold protein connecting the small ribosomal subunit and the mRNA through eIF3 (7-10). Once the ribosome is recruited to the 5' end of mRNA through its interaction with eIF4F, its binding to the mRNA is facilitated through the unwinding of mRNA secondary structures in the 5' untranslated region (5'UTR). This unwinding is mediated by eIF4A and eIF4B (11). Initiation of translation is then achieved by a scanning process through which the ribosome and its associated factors begin to scan the mRNA in a 5' to 3' direction. After recognition of an initiation codon with the appropriate sequence context by the anticodon of Met-tRNA^{Met}, hydrolvsis of the GTP bound to eIF2 is facilitated by eIF5, an GTPase activating protein. eIF1 then releases small ribosomal subunit bound initiation factors which are recycled for another round of translation initiation (12). Joining of the large ribosomal subunit 60s to the initiation complex is stimulated by eIF5B (13) and hydrolysis of a second molecule of GTP, leads to formation of the 80s initiation complex (14, 15).

4E-BP

Since the formation of the eIF4F complex is required for initiation, the regulation of translation initiation can be achieved by controlling the availability of

eIF4E. 4E-binding proteins (4E-BPs) are a family of translational repressors that compete with eIF4G for binding to eIF4E. Thus, binding of 4E-BPs to eIF4E inhibits cap-dependent translation (9, 16). Assembly of the eIF4F complex is regulated by the phosphorylation status of 4E-BP. While hypophosphorylated 4E-BP binds to eIF4E with high affinity, sequestering it from incorporation into the eIF4 complex, hyperphosphorylation of 4E-BP releases eIF4E (9, 16-19) Although inhibition of translation initiation by 4E-BP is reversible, the release of eIF4E from 4E-BP requires phosphorylation of a combination of multiple residues in a hierarchical manner (20) (Fig. 3.1).

Regulation of translation by insulin and other growth factors has been reported (9, 21). It has been shown that both serum and growth factors affect the phosphorylation status of 4E-BPs. Hyperphosphorylation of 4E-BP upon serum stimulation allows cap-dependent translation (16, 22-26). Recent studies have identified PI3K (phosphoinositide3-OH kinase), its downstream effector Akt, and the AKT substrate mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin), as the intracellular signaling pathway responsible for the increase in phosphorylation of 4E-BP in response to serum stimulation (4, 18, 27). Wortamine is a selective pharmacological inhibitor of PI3K while rapamycin is a selective pharmacological inhibitor of PI3K while rapamycin is a selective pharmacological inhibitor of PI3K while rapamycin (18, 27-29). The involvement of PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in regulating myogenesis is well

established. Differentiation of cultured myoblasts in response to serum depravation is believed to be mediated through autocrine/paracrine actions of IGFII (30-32). Our lab previously reported that, in response to culture in DM, signaling by PI3K to Akt initially decreases and then returns to levels comparable to that observed in GM (33).

TOR was originally identified through a genetic screen in *S. cerevisiae* to be responsible for rapamycin toxicity (34). mTOR and its yeast homolog belong to a larger protein family known as PIKK (<u>phosphoinositide kinase-related kinase</u>) which includes other members such as ATM (<u>a</u>taxia <u>t</u>elangiectasia <u>m</u>utated), ATR (<u>a</u>taxia <u>t</u>elangiectasia and <u>R</u>ad3) and DNA-PKc (<u>DNA</u>-activated <u>p</u>rotein <u>kinase</u> <u>c</u>atalytic subunit) (35-41). It has been suggested that in yeast, TOR's control of cell proliferation is achieved through a translational regulation mechanism (22, 42). Regulation of translation initiation by mTOR and its yeast homologue is mediated by its ability to phosphorylate 4E-BP or S6K1. While the phosphorylation of 4E-BP contributes to cap-dependent translation initiation, S6K1 phosphorylation regulates oligopyrimidine tract-dependent translation initiation.



Figure 3.1 Phosphorylation of 4E-BP allows translation.

Hypophosphorylated 4E-BP binds to eIF4E with high affinity and sequesters it from entering into the preinitiation complex, while phosphorylation of 4E-BP in response to growth factors or insulin releases eIF4E and allows translation.

elF2α

elF2a is a eukaryotic translational initiation factor that is involved in formation of the 43S preinitiation complex (Fig. 3.2). Binding of eIF2a with GTP and Met-tRNA^{Met} forms a ternary complex which mediates the recruitment of MettRNA^{Met} to the small ribosomal subunit, forming the 43S preinitiation complex. An alternative mechanism for the regulation of global translation depends on the availability of this translational ternary complex which only forms when eIF2a is in its GTP- bound state. Reinitiation of translation requires recycling of eIF2 α -GDP which is produced at the end of each initiation step to eIF2α -GTP is catalyzed by elF2B, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (Fig 3.2). Phosphorylation of the alpha subunit of eIF2a on Ser-51, in response to different physiological stimuli inhibits elF2B activity. Thus, phosphorylation of the α subunit of elF2-GDP prevents GDP-GTP exchange of nonphosphorylated eIF2-GDP therefore impairing ternary complex formation (43, 44). Currently, four eIF2a kinases are known : the double-stranded RNA-dependent eIF2 kinase (PKR) (45, 46), the eIF2 like kinase-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) (47), heme regulated eIF2 kinase (HRI) (48) and the mammalian orthologue of the yeast GCN2 protein kinase (mGCN2), only GCN2 activation has been linked to culture in the absence of serum (49).

dsRNA-activated protein kinase (PKR) is an interferon inducible serinethreonine kinase which was originally linked to the antiviral response. Recently,



Figure 3.2 Phosphorylation of of serine 51 on the α subunit of eIF2 by eIF2 specific stress kinases in response to different stimuli makes it a competitive inhibitor of eIF2B preventing the exchange of GDP to GTP and inhibit translation initiation.

caspase-dependent activation of PKR has been reported. In this cleavageinduced mode of activation, cleavage of PKR at an Asp residue frees the catalytic domain from the control of the regulatory domain resulting in a free kinase domain which is constitutively active (50). PKR-mediated phosphorylation of eIF2 α in a caspase-dependent manner lends support to previous published data reporting inhibition of total protein synthesis during apoptosis (51). PERK is an ER resident kinase that is activated by stimuli triggering unfolded protein response within ER (52-58). HRI is a heme-regulated translational inihibitor and plays a role in inhibition of total protein synthesis during heme deficiency (59).

Internal Ribosome Entry Site (IRES)

Initiation of translation of eukaryotic mRNAs results in the formation of the 80s ribosome-initiation complex at a start codon within the mRNA. For the majority of cellular mRNAs, initiation is achieved by a scanning mechanism, which involves ribosomal loading on the mRNA through recognition of the 5' cap structure, a 7-methyl-guanylic acid residue, by a cap-binding complex known as eIF4F(7, 60). Recently, an alternative mechanism has been identified for translation initiation which is independent of cap structure. Some viral and eukaryotic cellular mRNAs contain IRES (internal ribosomal entry sites) in their 5' untranslated region (5' UTR) and translation of these mRNAs can be initiated by direct recruitment of the 43S ribosome-preinitiation complex to this cis-element which is generally in close proximity to the initiation codon (61-63).

IRES elements were originally identified in viral mRNAs and it was shown that a variety of viral mRNAs are capable of internal initiation. Recent findings suggest however, that many cellular mRNAs with diverse cellular functions use IRES-mediated internal initiation to maintain their protein synthesis under stress conditions where the cap function is compromised (64-67). For instance, it was shown that during apoptosis, cleavage or alteration of many initiation factors results in a decrease in cap-dependent translation. However, synthesis of proteins such as Apaf1, Xiaps, and c-myc are maintained (68, 69). Analysis of IRES elements within the 5'UTR of several viral mRNAs has revealed an RNA fold profile displaying several structural domains and short motifs important for internal ribosomal entry. In viruses, these structural features are reported to be conserved among closely related species. In contrast to viral IRESs, conservation of secondary structures is not observed among IRESs of cellular mRNAs (70-73).

The requirement for canonical initiation factors to mediate internal initiation varies among different IRES-containing mRNAs. The requirement of eIF4G and eIF4A for picornaviral IRES-mediated translation has been established (74). Recent discoveries suggest that the efficiency of some IRES-mediated translation for some mRNA requires transacting factors which are RNA binding proteins. The first example of these cellular proteins was a 57 kDa polypyrimidine –tract-binding protein (PTB) known previously as a splicesome

component. PTB was found to be essential for the IRES-dependent translation of EMCV and poliovirus (62, 75, 76). Several other IRES Transacting Factors (ITAFs) have been identified by *in vitro* reconstituted translation assays, including LA autoantigen (77), Poly(rC) binding protein 2 (PCBP2) (78, 79)and upstream of N ras (unr) (80).

As it was mentioned earlier, the inhibitory effect of serum deprivation or apoptosis on total protein synthesis has been described. We have shown that the expression of PUMA is induced concurrently with apoptosis as we switch the culture of 23A2 cells to DM. Although transcriptional regulation of PUMA is well established, we noticed that enhanced PUMA expression could occur in the absence of newly synthesized PUMA transcript; therefore, we began to investigate the translational regulation of PUMA expression in response to culture in DM.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell lines and cell culture

23A2 murine skeletal myoblasts are derived from 5-azacytidine treatment of 10T1/2 fibroblast (81). They were cultured on gelatin coated plates and maintained in growth medium consisting of basal modified Eagle's medium (BME), 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptopmycin (P/S).

(P/S =10000 I.U./ml of penicillin and 10000 μ g/ml of streptomycin). HeLa and 293T cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium

supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% of P/S. Differentiation was induced by switching 23A2 cells to DM which lacks serum. Cells were maintained at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Actinimycin D was purchased from Sigma and was used at final concentration of 5 μ g/ml or 10 μ g/ml in DMSO. Rapamycin was purchased from Sigma and was used at final concentration of 100ng/ml in DMSO.

Statistical analysis

Error bars in our data represent the mean \pm standard deviations. Statistical analysis was performed using a student's t test (paired t test) and p values less then 0.05 were considered significant.

Silencing of PUMA using siRNA

Custom SMARTpool plus small interfering RNA (siRNA) to target mouse PUMA (GenBankTM accession number NM_133234) was designed and synthesized by Dharmacon (Lafayette,CO). siRNA (1.5 µg) was transfected into 23A2 cells in GM using RNAiFect Transfection Reagent (Qiagen) as described by the manufacturer's protocol. siCONTROL Non-Targeting siRNAs were included as a control. After 48 hours of transfection, cells were treated for 3 hours in DM. Total RNA was isolated from cells using TriZol (Invitrogen) and 0.5 µg of total RNA was reverse-transcribed using SuperScript III RNase H reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) to produce cDNA according to the manufacturer's protocol. Silencing was monitored at the mRNA level by Real-time PCR. Quantitative Real-time PCR was performed using Opticon & QuantiTect[™] SYBR[®]

GREEN[™] PCR Master Mix (Qiagen). Analysis of each sample was performed in duplicate or triplicate and normalized to actin mRNA levels.

Real-time analysis

Total RNA was prepared using 1 mL of Trizol (Invitrogen) reagent per plate for lysis following the manufacturer's instructions. 500 ng of total RNA was used to synthesize the first cDNA strand using reverse transcriptase SuperScript III (Invitrogen) in a 20 µl reaction. 2 µl of the synthesized cDNA was used in subsequent quantitative PCR analysis using SyberGreen (Invitrogen). Primer pairs used for amplification of PUMA mRNA were a forward PUMA primer: CCTCAGCCCTCCCTGTCACCAG and а reverse PUMA primer: CCGCCGCTCGTACTGCGCGTTG. Briefly, 2 µL of synthesized cDNA was mixed with 0.3 µM of each PUMA primer and 10 µl SYBR green reagent (Invitrogen) in a total of 20 µL reaction. cDNA was amplified for 39 cycles at an annealing temperature of 55 °C. Fluorescence was detected using an Opticon Monitor (MJ Research). The cycle number at which the amplification of product began to increase linearly (cycle threshold (C_t) value) was set manually and taken from the Opticon software. The fold difference between the Ct values of PUMA and GAPDH was determined.

Western blot analysis

The cells were washed with 1X PBS and lysed with 1X p21 lysis buffer (20 mM MOPS pH 7.4, 4 mM magnesium chloride, 200 mM sucrose, 0.1 mM EDTA,

0.001% DNase,1 M phenyl methyl sulfonyl floride, 50 µg/ml each of aprotinin, pepstatin, and leupeptin) with 1% CHAPS. Protein concentration was determined using Coomassie Protein Assay Reagent (Pierce) as per manufacturer's instruction and equal amounts of lysate were denatured in 5X reducing buffer (50% glycerol, 10% 2-β-mercaptoethanol, 10% SDS, pH 6.8). Samples were heated in sample buffer to 95°C for 5 minutes and loaded on a 12% SDS-PAGE. Samples from the gel were transferred electrophoretically to a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane in transfer buffer (containing 5.8 g/L of Tris, 29 g/L glycine, 20% methanol, 1 g/L of SDS) for 40 minutes at 1500 mAmp. The membrane was blocked with 5% milk in wash buffer (1X TBS with 1% NP-40) for one hour and incubated with primary antibody in wash buffer overnight at 4°C. The following primary antibodies were used for incubation with the appropriate membranes at the specified dilution: anti-PUMA antibody (Abcam) at 1:1000 dilution, anti-phospho 4E-BP antibody and anti-4E-BP anti-body (Cell Signaling) at 1:1000 dilution, anti-phospho mTOR antibody (Cell Signaling) at 1:1000, anti- anti-phospho eIF2 α (Ser51) antibody (Cell Signaling) at 1:1000, anti-eIF2 α (Cell Signaling) antibody at 1:1000, and anti-PKR antibody 1:1000 and Anti-ßactin (Sigma) was used at a dilution of 1:30, 000 for one hour as the control for equal loading. The membrane was washed three times with wash buffer after incubation with the primary antibody. The membrane was then incubated with the appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Santa Cruz) diluted at 1:1000 for one hour. Prior to visualization, the membrane was washed again 3 times with wash buffer. SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent

Substrate (Pierce) was incubated with the membrane for 2 minutes and visualization was performed using a Kodak Scientific imaging film.

Immunoprecipitation of ³⁵S-metabolically labeled PUMA

23A2 cells were plated at equal density at 1×10^5 cells per 100 mm plate the night before. The next day, the cells were washed with cold 1X PBS (Phosphate Buffer Saline) and preincubated in cysteine/methionine-free PRMI media (HyClone) for 30 minutes at 37°C. 23A2 cells were then incubated with cysteine/methioninefree medium containing ³⁵S-methionine (0.5 mCi.ml⁻¹ in total of 4 ml of medium) (MP Biomedicals Inc) with actinomycin (5 µg/ml) in the presence or absence of 10% dialyzed fetal bovine serum (HyClone). After three hours, 23A2 cells were washed with cold 1X PBS and then lysed by scraping in 70 µl of 1X RIPA lysis buffer (Tris 50 mM, NaCl 150 mM, SDS 0.1 %, phenyl methyl sulfonyl floride 1mM, EDTA 1 mM, Triton X100 0.1% and 1X protease inhibitor).

Further disruption of cells was achieved by repeated freeze-thaw procedures. For immunoprecipitation, ³⁵S-labeled lysates were depleted of endogenous Igs by preclearing them with Protein A/G agarose beads (Santa Cruz) for one hour at 4°C. Precleared ³⁵S-labeled GM or DM supernatant was removed after centrifugation at 2500 rpm for 30 sec at 4°C. Equal aliquots of protein from each precleared supernatant were incubated with 10 μ l immunoprecipitation antibody (rabbit polyclonal antibody against PUMA (Abcam):70 μ l of Immunoprecipitation matrix (ExactaCruz from Santa Cruz)

complex overnight at 4°C. Immunocomplexes were pelleted at maximum speed at 4°C the next day and were washed four times with RIPA buffer containing protease inhibitors. The final pelleted complex from each lysate was resuspended in 70 µl of 2X reducing electrophoresis buffer (50% glycerol, 10% 2- β -mercaptoethanol, 10% SDS) and boiled for 3 minutes at 95°C. To elute ³⁵Slabeled PUMA proteins, the sample loading buffer was centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 1 minute. The ³⁵S-labeled precipitated PUMA proteins was subjected to SDSpolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (12%). The Gel was fixed in 50% methanol, 10% acetic acid fixation solution, soaked for 15 minutes in Amplify (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech), dried for 90 minutes at 65 °C, and visualized by a Typhoon scanner.

Total protein synthesis (Metabolic labeling with ³⁵S-methionine)

23A2 cells were plated at equal density in 6-well plates the night before. The next day, cells were washed with cold 1X PBS (Phosphate Buffered Saline) and preincubated in cysteine/methionine-free PRMI media (MP Biomedicals) for 30 minutes at 37°C. To measure newly synthesized protein under different conditions, after brief amino acid starvation, 23A2 cells were incubated with cysteine/methionine depleted medium containing ³⁵S-methionine (40 mCi.ml-1) (MP Bipmedicals) in the presence or absence of 10% dialyzed fetal bovine serum (HyClone). At the various time points indicated on the graph, cells were washed with cold 1X PBS and then lysed in 50 μl of 1X p21 lysis buffer (20 mM MOPS pH 7.4, 4 mM magnesium chloride, 200 mM sucrose, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.001%

DNase, 1M phenyl methyl sulfonyl floride, 50μ g/ml each of aprotinin, pepstatin, and leupeptin) with 1 % CHAPS. The lysates were subject to further lysing by two consecutive freeze-thaw procedures. Protein determination was performed using Coomassie Protein Assay Reagent (Pierce) as per the manufacturer's instructions and equal amounts of protein from each lysates was subject to trichloroacetic acid (TCA) precipitation (10%). 5 µl of ³⁵S-labeled precipitated protein from each lysate was placed onto a 25-mm-diameter glass fiber filter (Fisherscientific Inc). The filters were washed three times in 5% TCA and once in 100% ethanol, air dried and subjected to scintillation counting.

Polyribosome Analysis.

A. Sucrose gradient prepration

Polysome buffer was made by mixing 100 mM KCL, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM Hepes-KOH (pH 7.4), 1 mM DTT in a 250 ml volume of DEPC-treated water.

To make a sucrose gradient of 5-50% using a gradient maker, 6 g of sucrose was dissolved in 120 ml of polysome buffer (5% sucrose solution) and 60 g of sucrose was dissolved in 120 ml of polysome buffer (50% sucrose solution). 60 ml of each sucrose solution was then loaded into the gradient maker (in different channels of the gradient maker) to make 2 gradients. Gradient maker's pump was set at 1 revolution /20sec. The gradient was collected in collection tubes with 5% solution moving upward as the concentration of sucrose solution was increased. The gradient was poured at least 4 hours before use and allowed to equilibrate at 4°C.

B. Equal number of cells were plated in 15cm tissue culture dishes. The next day, cells were switched to fresh GM (growth media containing 10% FBS) or DM (differentiation media) for 3 hours. Prior to harvesting, cells were treated with 100 μ g/ml of cycloheximide for 15 minutes at 37°C. Cells were washed twice with cold 1X PBS containing cycloheximide. Cells were then scraped in cold 1X PBS containing cycloheximide. Harvested cells were collected by centrifugation at 1500 xg for 10 minutes at 4°C.

Pelleted cells were lysed by incubation with 500 μ l of lysis buffer (10 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 7.4), 2.5 mM MgCl₂,100 mM KCL, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 0.1% Nonidet P-40, RNasin (100 units/ml) and 100 μ g/ml cycloheximide for 15 minutes on ice. Further lysing of cells was insured by freeze-thaw procedure. Lysed cells were then subject to centrifugation at 10000 xg to remove cellular debris and mitochondria. Post-mitochondrial cytoplasmic extract (supernatant) was collected and an equal optical density unit (260A) of each cytoplasmic extracts from GM or DM samples was determined and layered over 5-50% sucrose gradient (10 mM Hepes-KOH (pH 7.4), 100 mMKcl, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 1mMdithiothreitol) and centrifuged at 17,000 rpm for 18 hours at 4°C using a Beckman rotor. Fractionation of gradients was performed using ISCO density gradient fractionator with absorbance monitor set at 260 nm. Twenty five fractions were collected. RNA was collected from each fraction using TriZol reagent (Invitrogen) per the manufacturer's instruction. 500 ng of total RNA from each fraction was used in a reverse transcription reaction using reverse

transcriptase SuperScript III (Invitrogen). 2 μ I of each RT reaction was used for quantitative Real-time PCR analysis as described above using PUMA or GAPDH specific primers.

Cap analog experiment

pBluescript vector (Invitrogen) was a generous gift from Dr. Anton Komar (Cleveland State University). The entire PUMA cDNA was amplified by PCR using primers: EcoRI forward: AAAAAGAATTCCCAGGAGGCGGCGGCGACACCAGC

Sac I reverse: AAAAAGAGCTCTTACAGCGGAGGGCATCAGGCGG. The resulting PCR product was digested with Sacl and EcoRI and was cloned .in pBluescript backbone vector digested with Sacl/EcoRI. The final construct was verified by sequencing and was linearized with HindIII. The pCAT vector was used as a positive control since its translation is strictly cap-dependent. 100 ng of linearized DNA was used in an *in vitro* transcription reaction to produce capped and polyadenylated RNA using Archacap Ultra Machine Message (Promega). 500 ng of RNA was subjected to an *in vitro* translation reaction in the presence or absence of increasing concentrations of $m^{7}G(5')ppp(5')G$ cap analog (Ambion) and 10 µCi of Trans ³⁵S-Label Met/Cys (MP Biomedicals) . Reactions were resolved on a 12% SDS-PAGE . Gel was fixed in 50% methanol and 10% acetic acid fixation solution, soaked for 15 minutes in Amplify (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech), dried for 90 minutes at 65°C and visualized on a Typhoon scanner and the amount of radioactivity was quantified for each band.

In vitro transcription and translation

pGEM-CAT-fLuc was a gift from Dr Komar (Cleveland State University). Its construction has been described previously (82). The sequences spanning 5'UTR of PUMA , 5'UTR of PUMA + 50 nt and 5'UTR of PUMA + 100 nt past the initiation codon were each amplified by PCR using PUMA cDNA (Invitrogen MG 67917) as a template and with the following primers: BamHI bbc3 forward: AAAAAGGATCCCCAGGAGGCGGCGGCGACACCAGC, BamHI bbc3 +1 reverse : AAAAAGGATCCACATGGCGCTCCCTGGAGCCCC, BamHI bbc3 +54 reverse: AAAAAGGATCCATACAGCGGAGGGCGACATCAGGCGG and BamHI bbc3 +102+1 reverse: AAAAAGGATCCAGCAGCAGCGGCGGCGACACCTCTACGGGCTCC

The resulting PCR fragments were digested with BamHI and were each cloned into a pGEM-CAT-fLuc vector at BamHI site. Constructs were verified by sequencing. The resulting vectors were linearized with Xhol (Invitrogen). A total of 1 μ g of each DNA construct (pGEM bicistronic vector control, pGEM- PUMA 5′UTR , PGEM- PUMA-5UTR-(+50) and pGEM-PUMA-5UTR-(+100)) was linearized and transcribed *in vitro* using mMESSAGE mMACHINE T7 Ultra kit (Ambion) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The integrity of RNA transcripts was verified by running them on an urea-PAGE. 2 μ g of each capped RNA was *in vitro* translated using nuclease-treated rabbit reticulocyte lysate (Promega) in the presence of ³⁵S-methionine (10 μ l). The resulting radiolabeled protein products were resolved on a 12 % SDS-PAGE. The gel was fixed in 50% methanol and10% acetic acid fixation solution, soaked for 15 min in Amplify

(Amersham Pharmacia Biotech), dried for 90 minutes at 65°C, and visualized on a Typhoon scanner. The amount of radioactivity was quantified for each band.

Monocistronic contructs

We used the monocistronic expression vector pUHD10-3/LUC. This vector was a generous gift from Dr. Hatzoglou (Case Western University) and its generation has been described in detail (83). It was generated by cloning the chimeric LUC cDNA into the Xba/EcoRI site of pUDH10-3. This vector contains a minimal cytomegalovirus promoter and the SV40 polyadenylation signal. To generate the monocistronic vector harboring the 5' UTR of PUMA with an additional 50 nt or 100 nt past the initiation codon, we amplified PUMA cDNA by polymerase chain reaction using the following primer EcoRI forward: sequences: AAAAAGAATTCCCAGGAGGCGGCGGCGACACCAGC

and

AAAAATCATGAATACAGCGGAGGGCATCAGGCGG; Pag I reverse:

AAAAATCATGAAGCGGGGCTAGACCCTCTACGGGGCTCC. A 300 or a 350-bp PCR product was amplified from PUMA cDNA (Invitrogen) using this approach. The PCR products were digested with EcoRI and BspHI and inserted into the EcoRI/NcoI site of the pUHD10-3/LUC. We also obtained phpUDH10-3/luc from Dr. Hatzoglou. The hairpin was generated as described previously (83) using phosphorylated primers: 5'- GGAAGCTTATCGATTTCGAACCCGGGTACCG' AND 5'- AATTCGGTACCCCGGGTTCGAAATCGATAAGCTTCCGC '
which were annealed and inserted at a unique SacII site 70 nt downstream of the transcription start site. The identity of each vector was verified by sequencing.

Dicistronic constructs

To make dicistronic constructs harboring the PUMA 5' UTR and different regions past the initiation codon, we obtained the pRF vector from Dr. Jian-Ting Zang, (Indiana University). This vector is a generous gift from Dr. Stonely. It contains both Renilla and Firefly luciferase genes and its generation is described previously (68). We also obtained a dicistronic control php-RF vector from Dr. Jian-Ting-Zang which was made by inserting a stable hairpin upstream of the Renilla gene at the EcoRV site in the pRF vector using a double-stranded oligonucleotide with of 5'sense strand ATCAAAAGCGCAGGTCGCGACCGCGCATGCGCGGTCGCGACCTGCGCTAA AGAT-3' (84). We amplified the 5'UTR of PUMA and 100 nucleotides past the initiation codon from PUMA cDNA using primers:

EcoRI forward: AAAAAGAATTCCCAGGAGGCGGCGGCGACACCAGC Pag I reverse: AAAAATCATGAAGCGGGCTAGACCCTCTACGGGCTCC The PCR product was digested with EcoRI and BspHI and inserted at EcoRI/NcoI sites in pRF and phpRF vectors. The resulting vectors were verified by sequencing.

Cell Transfections and repoter analysis

23A2 Cells were plated at a density of 1X10⁵ cells per plate (6 Well) in GM. The next day, cells were transfected with 2 µg/well of either monocistronic or dicistronic reporter plasmids using LipofectAMINE Plus reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In monocistronic reporter assay, cells were cotransfected with 800 ng/well of pSV- β-galagtosidase expression vector (Promega). Hela cells were transfected with 500ng of bicistronic vector while 293T cells were transfected with 2ug of bicistronic plasmid using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instruction. After incubation at 37° for 24 h, the cells were switched to fresh GM or DM for 3 hours (in case of 23A2 cells) and treated or untreated cells were collected for reporter assays. For monocistronic repoter assays, Firefly luciferase activity was measured using Luciferase Assay System (Promega) and was normalized to βgalagtosidase activities as measured by the β -galagtosidase Enzyme Assay System (Promega). For dicistronic reporter assays, Firefly and Renilla luciferase activities were determined using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions

Promotorless bicistronic vector. pRF vector was digested with Smal and EcoRV to remove the simian virus 40 (SV40) promoter sequence and the chimeric intron from pRF dicistronic vector. The resulting digestion product was religated using T4 ligase to generate a promoterless dicistronic pRF(-p) vector. PUMA 5'UTR and 100 nt past the initiation codon was amplified as described

above and the resulting PCR product was inserted into an EcoRI/NcoI site within the promoterless pRF to generate pR-PUMA- F(-P).

RT-PCR analysis of the transfected bicistronic pRF vector harboring PUMA

5'UTR. 23A2 cells were transfected with 2 μ g of pRF vector containing PUMA 5'UTR in the intercistronic region using LipofectAMINE Plus reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. 24 hours after transfection, total RNA was isolated using TriZol (Invitrogen) reagent. 5 μ g of RNA was subjected to DNase treatment (Promega) followed by phenol/chloroform extraction. 0.5 μ g of DNase-treated RNA was used for a 20 μ L reverse transcription reaction in the presence or absence of SuperScript III reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). 2 μ l of each RT and –RT reaction was used for PCR using the following primer set:

FwdAGCAGCAAGGTGCCTCAATAGandRevTGATGTCCACCTCGATATGTG

RESULTS

Increased levels of PUMA protein in the absence of increased PUMA message

We have previously reported that an increase in PUMA mRNA (Fig 3.3A) and protein (Fig 3.3B) is detected in lysates from 23A2 myoblasts cultured in DM as compared to GM. This increased level of PUMA mRNA can be abrogated by prior incubation with siRNA targeting PUMA but not by prior incubation with non-targeting control siRNA (Fig. 3.3A). However, this suppression of increased levels of PUMA message did not correspond to a suppression of PUMA protein (Fig. 3.3B). Further, treatment with actinomycin D abrogated the increase in PUMA mRNA but had no effect on the increased level of PUMA protein (Fig. 3.4 & B).

These results suggested that post-transcriptional regulation contributes to the increased expression of PUMA, either through increased protein stability or increased translation. We therefore assessed the half-life of PUMA protein in GM compared to DM. Myoblasts were cultured in either GM or DM, each supplemented with the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide (CHX). PUMA protein levels were then measured by Western analysis after various times. The half-life of PUMA (Fig. 3.5) was greater than 24 hours. Thus, we have focused on the translational regulation of PUMA.



Figure 3.3 siRNA treatment of 23A2 cells suppresses the increase in PUMA transcripts but does not prevent the increase of PUMA protein in DM. (A) Custom SMARTpool plus small interfering RNA (siRNA) to target mouse PUMA was designed and synthesized by Dharmacon (Lafayette,CO). siRNA (1.5 ug) was transfected into 23A2 cells in GM using RNAiFect Transfection Reagent (Qiagen) as described by the manufacturer's protocol. siCONTROL Non-Targeting siRNAs were included as a control. After 48 hours of transfection, cells were treated for 3 hours in DM. Total RNA was isolated from cells using TriZol (Invitrogen) and 0.5 μ g of total RNA was reverse-transcribed using SuperScript III RNase H reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) to produce cDNA according to the manufacturer's protocol. Silencing was monitored at the mRNA level by Real-time PCR. (B) Western blot analysis using anti-PUMA and anti-actin antibodies. This is a representative of 4 independent experiments. Error bars represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from triplicate samples.





Figure 3.4 Actinomyocin treatment of 23A2 cells does not prevent the increase of PUMA protein in DM. Cells were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM in the presence or absence of actinomycin D. (A) Total RNA was isolated from cells using TriZol (Invitrogen) and 0.5 μ g of total RNA was reverse-transcribed using SuperScript III RNase H reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) to produce cDNA according to manufacturer's protocol. mRNA levels quantified by Real-time PCR. (B) Western blot analysis using anti-PUMA and anti-actin antibodies. This is a representative of 3 independent experiments. Error bars represent mean \pm SEM from triplicate samples.



Figure 3.5 PUMA Protein has a half-life greater than 24 hours. 23A2 Cells were plated at equal density the next day switched to fresh GM in the presence of 100 μ g/ml of cyclohexamide. Lysates were collected at various time points as indicated. Western blot analysis was performed using anti-PUMA and anti-actin antibodies. This is a representative of two independent experiments.

PUMA protein is translationally regulated

To show that increase translation contributes to the observed increased PUMA expression in DM, 23A2 cells were starved in cysteine/methionine-free PRMI media for a brief time and pulsed with ³⁵S-methionine in the presence of actinomycin D, either in the presence or absence of 10% dialyzed serum for 3 hours. Immunoprecipitation of PUMA was performed on precleared lysates using a rabbit polyclonal antibody against PUMA coupled to an immunoprecipition matrix. The ³⁵S-labeled precipitated PUMA protein was eluted from the resulting immunocomplex and analyzed by electrophoresis on a 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel. Fig. 3.6 shows enhanced incorporation of the label, indicative of new PUMA protein synthesis in the absence of serum. Further, this enhancement was not affected by the presence of actinomycin D. This is consistent with the observed increase in steady-state levels of PUMA protein in DM even when the increase in PUMA mRNA is blocked and suggests that translational regulation of PUMA is the mechanism responsible for increased expression of PUMA protein.



Figure 3.6 PUMA expression is translationally regulated 23A2 cells were plated at equal density and preincubated with media free of cysteine and methionine. Actinomycin D treated 23A2 cells were then labeled with ³⁵S-meth in the presence or absence of 10% dialyzed serum. PUMA protein was immunoprecipited as described under "Experimental Procedure" from lysates treated with GM (growth factor) or DM (differentiation) medium. Immunoprecipited ³⁵S-labeled PUMA was loaded on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel and the band corresponding to ³⁵S-labeled PUMA was visualized by a Typhoon scanner. Data shown is representative of two independent experiments.

PUMA translation is regulated at initiation step

In order to determine if the translation of PUMA is enhanced at the level of translation initiation, we performed ribosomal profiling. Cytoplasmic extracts of 23A2 cells incubated in GM or DM were layered, after treatment with 0.1 mM cycloheximide, on a 5-50% sucrose gradient followed by centrifugation. Gradients were then fractionated with continuous monitoring at 260 nm using an ISCO fractionator. Analysis of ribosomal profiles reveals an inhibition of total protein synthesis in DM as indicated by smaller polysome peaks and a higher 80S peak (Fig. 3.7). Furthermore, it suggests that initiation attenuation is responsible for this global decrease in translation. Analysis of PUMA mRNA across the gradient by Real-time PCR using PUMA specific primers reveals differential distribution of PUMA mRNA levels along polysomes in GM versus DM. As previously reported, an increase in translation initiation of a specific mRNA is indicated by an increase in its association with polyribosomes (85). In agreement with this, our data indicates that more PUMA mRNAs are associated with polysomes in the absence of serum and hence more PUMA mRNAs are being actively translated. As a control, we also determined the distribution of mRNAs are actively translated and therefore more GAPDH mRNAs are associated with polysome fractions, giving a similar distribution to that of PUMA mRNAs in DM. Removal of serum reduces the association of GAPDH mRNAs with polysomes consistent with its cap-dependent mode of translation initiation.



Figure 3.7 Translational increase in PUMA expression occurs at initiation step. A) Polysome profiles of mRNAs in 23A2 cells in presence and absence of serum Lysates from 23A2 cells in presence and absence of serum were separated by centrifugation over a 5-50 % linear sucrose gradient. Fractionation of gradients was performed with the absorbance monitor set at 260 nm. 25 fractions were collected. RNA was collected from each fraction using TriZol reagent (Invitrogen) as per the manufacturer's instructions. B) PUMA mRNAs and GAPDH mRNAs are translocated to polyribosomal fractions in the absence or presence of serum respectively RNA from each of the two adjacent fractions were combined and distributions of PUMA and GAPDH mRNAs were analyzed by real-time PCR using PUMA or GAPDH specific primers. Results are representative of triplicate samples from two independent experiments. Error bars represent mean \pm SEM from triplicate samples. C) Graph bars representing total polyribosomes for PUMA and GAPDH in the presence or absence of serum.

Cap-dependent translation is initially decreased in DM but then recovers to levels comparable to that observed in GM

We next investigated global translational regulation as a consequence of culture in DM. Culture in DM is equivalent to serum deprivation. Many studies have shown that total protein synthesis is subject to regulation by environmental cues and that serum deprivation results in decreased cap-dependent translation (86, 87). We have discovered, however, that total protein synthesis as assessed through ³⁵S-methionine incorporation is initially decreased after 3 h of culture in DM but recovers to levels comparable to that observed in GM after 18 hours (Fig. 3.8).

The presence of hypophosphorylated 4E-BP correlates with initial decrease but not recovery of cap-dependent translation

To elucidate the molecular mechanism responsible for the global effect on translation in 23A2 cells, we began to investigate the phosphorylation state of 4E-BP as a consequence of culture in DM. Hypophosphorylated 4E-BP binds to eIF4E and prevents formation of the 43S pre-initiation complex. The appearance of hypophosphorylated 4E-BP correlated with the decrease in global translation after 3 hours of culture in DM (Fig. 3.9). However, hypophosphorylated 4E-BP persists even after 18 h of culture in DM when global translation has returned to levels detected in GM. Thus, the phosphorylation status of 4E-BP correlates with the initial decrease, but not the recovery, in global translation.



Figure 3.8 Global translation of 23A2 cells decreases after 3 hours in DM but then recovers to that level observed in GM after 18 hours 23A2 cells were cultured in GM. The next day 23A2 cells were starved in cysteine- methionine-free RPMI for 60 minutes. 23A2 cells were then incubated with ³⁵S-methionie (250 μ Ci/ml) in the presence or absence of 10% dialyzed serum (Hyclone). Cell lysates were prepared after the indicated time and equal amounts of protein were incubated with 500 μ l of NaOH at 37°C for 15 minutes followed by 10% TCA precipitatation. Equal volume of each sample was applied on GFC filter paper. Each filter was washed with 5% TCA twice and 10 ml of ethanol then the amount of radioactivity was quantified by scintillation counter. Shown are results from one experiment which are representative of two independent experiments. Error bars represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from triplicate samples. Others in our lab have also shown that PI3K activity in myoblasts cultured in DM initially decreased but then recovered to that found in GM (33). It has been suggested that PI3K lies upstream of mTOR in other systems and signaling by mTOR phosphorylates 4E-BP and allows protein synthesis (41). To assess mTOR activation as a consequence of culture in DM, lysates prepared from 23A2 myoblasts cultured in DM for various times were assessed for phosphorylated active mTOR by Western analysis. The phosphorylation status of mTOR follows that of AKT, suggesting that mTOR might lie downstream of the AKT signaling pathway. However, the recovery of AKT signaling to mTOR does not correspond with a recovery in hyperphosphorylated 4E-BP and corresponding loss of hypophosphorylated 4E-BP. Hence, we continued searching for a key translational regulator whose activation status corresponded to observed fluctuation in global protein synthesis.



Figure 3.9 4E-BP phosphorylation fails to correlate with the recovery of the global protein synthesis in 23A2 cells. 23A2 cells were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM for the indicated time. Western blot analysis was performed on equal amounts of lysates with a phospho-specific antibody against 4E-BP (Cell Signaling) and an anti- β -actin antibody (SantaCruz). This is a representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 3.10 mTOR phosphorylation levels correlate with total protein translation and PI3 kinase activity in 23A2 cells upon culture in differentiation media. 23A2 cells were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM for the indicated time. Whole cell protein lysate was prepared and subjected to SDS-PAGE. Western blot analysis was performed using an anti-phospho mTOR (Cell Signaling) antibody and visualized by autoradiography. Anti ß-actin (Sigma) was used as the control for equal loading. The results shown here are representative of three independent experiments.

De-phosphorylation of elF2 α correlates with the recovery of Cap-dependent translation

Since eIF2 α phosphorylation regulates the rate of protein synthesis (7, 8), we next assessed the phosphorylation status of eIF2 α in 23A2 cells as a consequence of culture in DM by performing Western blot analysis using a phospho-specific antibody to eIF2 α (Ser-51). Phosphorylated eIF2 α prevents the exchange of GDP for GTP by eIF2B and blocks translation initiation. phosphorylation of eIF2 α is below the level of detection in presence of serum. Phosphorylation can be detected as early as 30 minutes upon removal of serum and is maximal from 3 to 6 hours in DM (Fig. 3.11). This is in agreement with our previous data showing a decrease in total protein synthesis after 3 hours in DM. Furthermore, phosphorylation of eIF2 α decreases after 18 hours in DM and this correlates to the recovery of global translation.

To identify the kinase responsible for eIF2α a phosphorylation, we focused our attention on PKR. Recently, caspase-dependent activation of PKR has been reported. In this cleavage-induced mode of activation, cleavage of PKR at an Asp residue frees the catalytic domain from the control of the regulatory domain resulting in a free kinase domain which is constitutively active (50). Since our lab has previously shown activation of caspases in 23A2 cells as a consequence of culture in DM, we monitored PKR cleavage by performing Western blot analysis using an antibody that recognizes its N-terminal domain (Fig. 3.12). We confirmed the cleavage of PKR in DM after 3 hours by detecting a 38 KD

fragment which is similar in size to the estimated fragment of the regulatory domain of PKR. This 38 KD fragment is absent in GM. Since PKR activation coincides in time with eIF2 α phosphorylation, these results allow us to speculate that eIF2 α phosphorylation could be mediated by PKR activation in DM. Although these data suggest that caspase-mediated activation of PKR and subsequent phosphorylation of eIF2 α in 23A2 cells might be responsible for the inhibition of total protein synthesis during apoptosis, future studies using caspase inhibitors are necessary to confirm that PKR activation and eIF2 α phosphorylation are indeed capspase-mediated.

Identification of secondary structures in 5 ' UTR of PUMA using MFOLD algorithm

We have previously shown an increase in eIF2α phosphorylation levels which correlated with a decrease in total protein synthesis after switching the culture of 23A2 cells to DM for 3 hours. We have also demonstrated that PUMA protein expression levels increase under the condition of decreased global translation. These data led us to hypothesize that the increase in PUMA expression under the condition of decreased total protein synthesis could be IRES-mediated.

Analysis of IRES elements within the 5'UTR of several viral mRNA has revealed several general structural features important for internal ribosomal entry (70, 71). We performed computational analysis to predict the possible secondary



Figure 3.11 The phosphorylation status of elF2 α correlates with the level of total translation in 23A2 cells upon removal of serum. 23A2 cells were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM for the indicated time. Whole cell protein lysate was prepared and subjected to SDS-PAGE. Western blot analysis was performed using an anti-phospho elF2 α (Ser51) (Cell Signaling) antibody or anti-elF2 α antibody and visualized by autoradiography. Anti-ß-actin (Sigma) was used as the control for equal loading. The results shown here are representative of four experiments.



Figure 3.12 The appearance of active PKR fragments upon culture of 23A2 cells in DM correlates with the phosphorylation status of elF2 α and total protein synthesis. 23A2 cells were plated at equal density and the next day switched to fresh GM or DM for the indicated time. Whole cell protein lysate was prepared and subjected to SDS-PAGE. Western blot analysis was performed using an anti-PKR (N-terminal 1-515 amino acid) antibody (Santa Cruz) and visualized by autoradiography. The results shown are representative of two separate experiments.

structures within the 5'UTR of PUMA RNA. Secondary structural elements were generated using MFOLD algorithm (88). This method predicts RNA folds that are thermodynamically stable based on their minimal free energy. Using the MFOLD algorithm, we identified the presence of predicted secondary structures in the 5' UTR of PUMA (Fig. 3.13). It is suggested that the presence of such highly stable stem loops with a predicted Δ G value of -91 Kcal/mol in the 5'UTR of PUMA could be inhibitory to the conventional translation initiation by scanning mechanism (89, 90).

Competition by cap analog failed to inhibit the translation of capped PUMA RNA

To test the hypothesis that PUMA protein is translated via a capindependent mechanism, the whole sequence of PUMA cDNA, including poly(A) sequence, was cloned into the pBluescript (Stratagene) vector as described in Material and Methods. The resulting plasmid was linearized and subjected to an *in vitro* transcription program using the mMESSAGE mMACHINE T7 ULTRA kit (Ambion). The resulting capped PUMA RNA transcript was used to program *in vitro* translation reactions with rabbit reticulocyte lysate (RRL) in the absence or presence of increasing concentrations (0.200 µm and 1 mM) of cap analog m7GpppG (Ambion). To monitor the inhibition of cap-dependent translation, a



B)

Figure 3.13 A) Predicted secondary structures of PUMA 5' UTR were generated by MFOLD. A strong secondary structure with ΔG of -91 kcal/mol was identified. B) Nucleotide sequence of structural elements within PUMA 5'UTR.



Cap analog 0 0.2mM 1mM 2mM 0 0.2mM 1mM 2mM



Figure 3.14 Competition by cap analog failed to inhibit the translation of PUMA RNA A) schematic diagram of constructs used in this experiment. B)*In vitro* translation of capped PUMA RNA in the presence or absence of exogenously added cap analog. pBluescript containing the entire PUMA cDNA and pCAT were linearized. Capped RNAs were transcribed *in vitro* (mMachine mMassage T7 transcription kit (Ambion). Capped RNA transcripts were used to program *in vitro* translation reactions with RRL in the presence of increasing concentrations of cap analog m7GpppG (Ambion) as indicated. Data shown here is representative of two independent experiments. C) quantification of band shown in B by a typhon scanner. pBluescript vector containing the CAT enzyme was used as a positive control. The addition of a cap analog decreases the cap-dependent translation of CAT enzyme in a dose-dependent manner; however, it fails to inhibit the translation of capped PUMA RNA, suggesting that PUMA mRNA can be translated in a capindependent manner (Fig 3.14).

PUMA 5'-UTR functions as an IRES in a bicistronic vector *in vitro*

We also determined the sequence within the 5'UTR of the PUMA mRNA that would be sufficient to mediate IRES-dependent translation of PUMA mRNA. The complementary DNA sequence corresponding to the 5'UTR of PUMA mRNA was cloned between CAT and LUC genes in a pGEM bicistronic vector developed by Drew & Belsham (82) (Fig 3.15A). The constructs containing either the full length 5'UTR or full length 5'UTR and additional nucleotides past the initiation codon were subject to an *in vitro* translation reaction and the translation efficiency of each construct was determined as the ratio of fLUC/CAT. Insertion of the 5'UTR of PUMA resulted in an increase in the ratio of fLUC/CAT; however, addition of 50 or 100 nucleotides past the coding sequence resulted in an increase of this ratio, three to four times that observed with vector alone (Fig 3.18C). This data is in agreement with previous published reports showing that sequences within the protein coding region were sometimes required for IRES function (91-93).



B)



Figure 3.15 PUMA 5'UTR shows IRES activity *in vitro*. A) A diagrammatic representation of the bicistronic control (pGEM-CAT-ICS-LUC) and PUMA 5'UTR containing vectors. B) A diagrammatic representation of region of PUMA cDNA tested in these bicistronic constructs. C) pGEM bicistronic vector control, harboring PUMA 5'UTR and PUMA(+50) 5'UTR, and PUMA(+100) 5'UTR were each linearized and transcribed *in vitro* using the mMESSAGE mMACHINE T7 ULTRA kit (Ambion). Capped RNA was *in vitro* translated using RRL. Radiolabeled protein was resolved on a 12% SDS-PAGE and the amount of radioactivity was quantified. Data shown here is representative of two independent experiments.

PUMA protein expression in DM is cap-independent

To investigate if the increase in PUMA protein levels observed after 3 hours of culture in DM is cap-dependent, 23A2 cells were treated with rapamycin. Rapamycin inhibits the function of the mammalian target of rapamycin, mTOR, a serine/thereoine kinase responsible for phosphorylating 4E-BP (94-96). Inhibition of mTOR results in hypophosphorylation of 4E-BP, which becomes active and is then able to inhibit the formation of the eIF4F initiation complex by sequestering eIF4E, thereby blocking cap-dependent translation of mRNA (19, 40, 97). To determine the concentration of rapamycin necessary to inhibit cap-dependent translation, we assessed the level of MyoD, a protein with half-life of 45 minutes, following treatment with rapamycin. Blocking cap-dependent translation allowed MyoD protein levels to be reduced to nearly below detectable levels after 3 hours (Fig. 3.16A). We showed that the inclusion of rapamycin at a concentration sufficient to prevent cap-dependent translation of MyoD did not affect the expression of PUMA protein in DM (Fig. 3.16A). We also showed that myogenin induction in DM could be inhibited by inclusion of rapamycin (Fig 3.16B).

PUMA 5'-untranslated region functions as an IRES in vivo

To investigate whether PUMA is translated in an IRES-mediated manner *in vivo*, we used the monocitronic construct pUHD10-3/LUC in which PUMA 5'UTR and different regions past the initiation codon were each cloned in frame upstream of the Firefly luciferase gene. The resulting monocistronic vector, if



Figure 3.16 PUMA expression in DM is cap-independent. A) 23A2 cells were treated in the presence or absence of rapamycin (100 nM) in DM for the indicated time, A) total protein lysates were prepared and resolved on 10% for MyoD which has a short protein half life) or 12% (for PUMA) SDS-PAGE. Steady state level of PUMA, MyoD and β -actin were determined by Western blot analysis using antibodies against PUMA, MyoD and β -actin, respectively B) Western blot analysis of 23A2 cells treated in presence or absence of rapamycin in DM for 12 hours. Lysates were resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis was performed using anti-myogenin antibodies. Data shown here is representative of two independent experiments.

expressed, produces a monocistronic chimeric mRNA (83). To distinguish between scanning- dependent and independent translation initiation, we utilized a pUHD10-3/LUC vector that harbors a stable RNA hairpin upstream of fLUC. Using this vector, PUMA 5'UTR was cloned downstream of the hairpin in-frame with the fLUC gene. 23A2 cells were transfected in GM with these monocistronic constructs along with a β -galctosidase expression vector. The cells were switched to DM for 3 hours. Luciferase activity was determined for each construct and normalized to β-galctosidase to account for differences in transfection efficiency. Upon switching 23A2 cells to DM, the ratio of $fLuc/\beta$ -gal was enhanced significantly if PUMA 5'UTR +100 nt was inserted into this monocitronic vector (Fig. 3.17B); however, this ratio did not change if only 50 nt past the initiation codon was added to PUMA 5'UTR (data not shown). In addition, the hairpin was effective in inhibiting cap-dependent translation as determined by a sharp decrease in fLUC/ β -gal ratio for the control vector harboring the RNA hairpin (phpRF). The presence of the hairpin, however, did not affect the expression of the vector harboring PUMA 5'UTR indicating that PUMA 5'UTR can support translation independent of the cap (Fig. 3.17C). The fact that an additional sequence from the coding region is required for IRES activity of PUMA in vivo also suggests the involvement of trans-acting factors in vivo which are absent in vitro. We performed RT-PCR analysis on RNA extracted from these transfected cells using Firefly luciferase specific primers (Fig. 3.17D) to exclude the possibility of a transcriptional increase as a mechanism responsible for enhanced expression of the construct harboring the putative



Figure 3.17 IRES-mediated translation of PUMA A) A diagrammatic representation of constructs used in this experiment.A&B) 23A2 cells were transfected independently with monocistronic constructs along with a β -gal control vector as indicated. 24 hours after transfection, cells were switched to fresh GM or DM for 3 hours. Cell extracts were prepared and luciferase activities were measured according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega) and normalized to β -gal using a β -gal assay (Promega). D) RT-PCR analysis using RNA from 23A2 cells transfected in GM or DM with the indicated constructs and a *Renilla* expression vector. Error bars represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from triplicate samples.

PUMA IRES element.

PUMA 5'-untranslated region mediates internal ribosome entry sitedependent translation *in vivo*

Since the standard test for detecting IRES activity utilizes a bicistronic vector (61), we cloned PUMA 5'UTR +100 nt of coding region from AUG into a pRF Vector. In this bicistronic vector, the Renilla LUC is translated from the first cistron in a cap-dependent manner whereas the Firefly LUC enzyme is translated from the second cistron. Enhanced expression of the second cistron is only achieved if the intercistronic region harbors elements with IRES activity. 23A2 cells were transfected with these bicistronic constructs separately in growth medium. Twenty four hours after transfection, 23A2 cells were switched to fresh GM or DM for 3 hours and the luciferase activity of each cistron was determined. Similar to results obtained using monocistronc constructs, the pRF harboring PUMA 5'UTR in the intercistronic region displays enhanced IRES activity as determined by fLUC/RLUC ratio which is significant compared to pRF control vector (Fig. 3.18 B&C). To distinguish reinitiation from IRES activity, we cloned the sequence representing PUMA IRES into a phpRF vector. This vector contains a RNA hairpin upstream of the *Renilla* coding region. Addition of a hairpin upstream of the *Renilla* cistron suppressed the cap dependent translation as determined by a sharp decrease in *Renilla* luciferase expression (Fig. 3.18D).



Figure 3.18 5'UTR of PUMA shows IRES activity in the absence of serum. A) Schematic representation of the constructs used in this experiment. B) 23A2 cells were transfected with the indicated vectors. 24 hours after transfection, cells were switched to fresh GM or DM for 3 hours. IRES activities were determined as a ratio of Firefly to *Renilla* activities for each transfection. C) The presence of the hairpin upstream of the Renilla cistron inhibits its cap-dependent translation in DM (phpRF) but has no effect on the translation of PUMA 5'UTR. D) *Renilla* activity is decreased in phpRF transfected cell as compared to the pRF control vector transfected cells. Error bars represent mean \pm SEM from triplicate samples.

However, the hairpin did not affect Firefly luciferase expression of the bicistronic vector containing the PUMA IRES (Fig. 3.18C).

5' UTR of PUMA does not contain elements with promoter activity

Recently, it has been demonstrated that in some cases the activity that defined the presence of an IRES in a few bicistronic mRNAs using bicistronic DNA constructs was actually due to the presence of a cryptic promoter in intercistronic elements (98). Indeed, the 5'UTR of several genes, including mouse Bad and human Sno, have been shown to possess promoter sequences (84, 98). It has been argued that the increase in expression of the second cistron could be due to production of a monocitronic mRNA transcribed from the second cistron (99, 100). To rule out the possibility of the presence of a cryptic promoter in the 5'UTR of PUMA, we generated a promoterless dicistronic vector as described in Material and Methods by removing the simian virus 40 promoter as well as the chimeric intron (Fig. 3.19A). Removal of the promoter should prevent the false positive detection of IRES activity from the intercistronic region of this bicistronic construct (101). 23A2 cells were transfected with these promoterless bicistronic constructs with or without PUMA 5'UTR cloned into their intercistronic region. No enhancement of the second cistron was observed even when the PUMA IRES element was present in the construct (Fig. 3.19). Furthermore, switching the cells to DM failed to activate the IRES element. These observations ruled out the possibility of the existence of a promoter sequence in 5'UTR of PUMA.





Figure 3.19 5'UTR of PUMA does not contain promoter elements. A) A diagrammatic representation of the bicitronic construct with the SV40 promoter and chimeric intron. B) 23 A2 cells were transfected with 2 μ g of pRF(-) control vector in which the promoter was removed in addition to pR 5UTR F(-) vector independently. 24 hours after transfection, 23A2 cells were switched to fresh GM or DM and lucifearse activities were determined using a Dual Luciferase Assay System (Promega). Fluc activity was normalized to Rluc activity for each transfection. This is representative of two independent experiments. Error bars represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from triplicate samples.

5'UTR of PUMA does not contain splicing acceptor sites

To rule out the possibility that the observed fLuc activity is due to the presence of cryptic splice sites within the bicistronic RNA which would generate monocistronic fluc RNAs *in vivo*, we performed RT-PCR analysis on bicistronic RNAs extracted from 23A2 cells in GM using three sets of primers as defined in Fig 3.20. This method was originally suggested by Van Eden (102) in assessing aberrant RNA species by splicing produced from bicistronic DNA constructs. PCR products were subjected to electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel. Amplification of the RNAs using these three set of primers should result in single bands of 524 bp, 383 bp and 161 bp. No additional PCR products of smaller size were detected. We also performed PCR amplification on a –RT sample to exclude the possibility of genomic DNA contamination. These results provide further support that the 5'UTR of PUMA does not contain cryptic splice sites.

PUMA IRES activity is enhanced in response to etoposide treatment

Increased PUMA expression is well documented in response to DNA damaging agents. Etoposide is a DNA damaging agent that activates the signaling pathways associated with DNA repair and apoptosis (103). Etoposide-induced apoptosis is shown to be mediated through the intrinsic pathway and involves activation of p53 (104, 105). Recently, it has been reported that global reduction of translation in response to etoposide treatment coincides with increased levels of hypophosphorylated 4E-BP. This increased



Figure 3.20 RT-PCR analysis ruled out production of any aberrant RNA species from the dicistronic construct A) Schematic representation of the location of the primers and expected size of the corresponding product. B) RT-PCR analysis of total RNA extracted from 23A2 cells transfected with a bicistronic construct harboring the PUMA IRES using the shown set of primers. DNA (bicistronic plasmid harboring PUMA 5'UTR), –RT (no reverse transcriptase) and RT (reverse transcriptase). hypophosphorylation of 4E-BP is p53-mediated (106, 107). To assess the effect of etoposide on PUMA IRES activity, 23A2 cells were transfected with the bicistronic vector into which the PUMA IRES was cloned in the intercistronic region and the control vector independently. Twenty four hours after transfection, the cells were treated with etoposide for 8 hours in GM. Etoposide treatment of 23A2 cells significantly enhanced the IRES-mediated translation of PUMA RNA as compared to the control vector (Fig 3.21).

PUMA IRES functions in HeLa cells and 293T cells.

Sequence analysis of the 5'UTR of PUMA showed a 93% homology between mice and humans. This data prompted us to test the IRES in cell lines of human origin. HeLa cells and 293T cells were transfected with the indicated vectors separately. Twenty four hours after transfection, the expression of both Firefly and *Renilla* luciferase enzymes was determined. PUMA IRES activity is functional in Hela cells and 293T cells even in absence of treatment, unlike 23A2 cells which require culture in DM or treatment with etoposide. Furthermore, the efficiency of the IRES as determined by the ratio of the Firefly to *Renilla* was even further enhanced in the presence of a RNA hairpin (Fig. 3.22).


Figure 3.21 PUMA IRES activity is increased in response to etoposide. A) A diagrammatic representation of bicistronic constructs. B) 23A2 cells were transfected with the indicated vectors independently. 24 hours after transfection, cells were incubated with fresh GM in the presence or absence of 3 μ M/ml of etoposide or DMSO for 8 hours. Activity was determined as a ratio of FLuc/RLuc for each transfection. This experiment was done in triplicate. Error bars represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from triplicate samples.



Figure 3.22 The 5'UTR of PUMA shows IRES activity in human HeLa and 293T cells. A) A diagrammatic representation of constructs used in this experiment. 5'UTR + the first 100 nt of the coding region of PUMA was cloned into the intercistronic regions of the bicistronic pRF or phpRF vectors. phpRF vector contains a hairpin upstream of the *Renilla* coding sequence. B) HeLa cells & C) 293T cells were plated at equal density in 24 well plates. The next day, cells were transfected with 2 μ g of the bicistronic pRF, phpRF , pRF(5'UTR of PUMA) and phpRF(5'UTR of PUMA) vectors separately. 24 hours after transfection, both Firefly and *Renilla* luciferase activies were determined using a Dual Luciferase Assay System (Promega). Error Bar represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from triplicate samples. Data shown here is representative of two independent experiments.

DISCUSSION

We have previously documented a critical role for the pro-apoptotic Bc2 family PUMA in the apoptosis that occurs in a subset of myoblasts induced to differentiate as a consequence of culture in DM (media lacking serum) (108). Others have documented a critical role for PUMA in the apoptosis that occurs in response to DNA damaging agents such as etoposide (109-111). To date, the known regulation of PUMA expression has been at the level of increased transcription in response to the activation of the transcription factor p53 in response to a number of stimuli (111-113). We report herein the novel cap-independent translation of PUMA and we have identified the IRES element in the PUMA RNA. Further, we have shown that this IRES element facilitates translation in myoblasts cultured in DM (media lacking serum) or treated with etoposide.

It is well documented from studies in other systems that culturing cells without serum leads to a decrease in total protein synthesis and inhibition of capdependent translation in serum starved cells can in part be responsible for this decrease (114-116). We too observe a decrease in total protein synthesis in skeletal myoblasts cultured in DM (media lacking serum). However, in skeletal myoblasts, culture in DM leads to apoptosis in a subset of cells. The onset of apoptosis is likewise associated with inhibition of global translation (86, 117). This regulation has been explained in part by caspase-dependent cleavage of a number of initiation factors involved in cap-dependent translation (86, 114, 118,

119). Since the decrease in total protein synthesis that we observe coincides with the onset of apoptosis, at this time we cannot distinguish between a decrease in protein synthesis in all cells or a decrease in protein synthesis in only those cells destined to undergo apoptosis.

Interestingly, while we initially detect a decrease in total protein synthesis with maximal inhibition after 3 hours of culture in DM, this inhibition recovers after 18 hours of culture in DM to levels of synthesis comparable to that detected in growth media (GM). At this time, there are no remaining apoptotic cells. Thus, there are at least three possible explanations for the recovery of protein synthesis. Firstly, it is possible that only the apoptotic cells underwent a decrease in total protein synthesis. Alternatively, it is possible that the entire population initially displayed a decrease in protein synthesis and that this recovered with time due to the auto secretion of insulin like growth factor I (IGF-I). An increased secretion of IGF-I during differentiation is well documented (120, 121). Finally, it is possible that a combination of these possibilities is responsible for the observed levels of total protein synthesis.

Several key molecules are known to regulate translation. Serum-induced phosphorylation of 4E-BP allows translation initiation by preventing its association with eIF4E (20, 28, 40, 60, 122-128). Using a phosphospecific antibody against 4E-BP, we demonstrated that the appearance of hypophosphorylated 4E-BP correlated with the decrease in global translation

after 3 hours of culture in DM; however, hypophosphorylated 4E-BP persisted even when global translation was recovered after 18 hours of culture in DM.

Serum-induced phosphorylation of 4E-BP is mediated by PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling in other system (122-128). Signaling by PI3 kinase is also required for skeletal myoblast differentiation. Specifically, treatment with LY294002 (the PI3K inhibitor) blocks the increase in myogenin mRNA (129). In correlation with results obtained from our studies on global translation, we have determined that PI3K signaling to Akt decreases after 3 hours in DM and recovers by 18 hours (130). Further, herein we report that mTOR activity similarly decreases after 3 hours in DM and recovers by 18 hours (130). Further, herein we report that mTOR activity similarly decreases after 3 hours in DM and recovers by 18 hours (unpuplished). Although the suppression of PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling concomitant with culture in DM and the onset of apoptosis could explain the decrease in 4E-BP phosphorylation and resulting decrease in total protein synthesis, the persistent hypophosphorylation status of 4E-BP in DM could not be explained by the recovery of PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling.

eIF2 is another initiation factor whose phosphorylation is known to impair translation initiation (44, 131). Our kinetic analysis of eIF2 α phosphorylation demonstrated that the phosphorylation status of eIF2 α correlates with the decrease and recovery of global translation. In our attempt to identify the kinase responsible for eIF2 α phosphorylation, we showed that PKR cleavage, indicative of its activation (50, 118), is detected in 23A2 cells as a consequence of culture

in DM. Although these data suggest that caspase-mediated activation of PKR and subsequent phosphorylation of eIF2 α in 23A2 cells might be responsible for the inhibition of total protein synthesis during apoptosis, future studies using caspase inhibitors are necessary to confirm that PKR activation and eIF2 α phosphorylation are indeed capspase-mediated. Nonetheless, even if caspasemediated cleavage and activation of PKR is confirmed to mediate the phosphorylation of eIF2 α , the mechanism responsible for the decrease in phosphorylation of eIF2 α and the recovery of global translation remains to be determined since cleaved PKR persists. Interestingly, recent reports suggest the involvement of mTOR in eIF2 α in yeast in a rapamycin-depdent manner (132). Therefore, future work is necessary to determine the extent of GCN2 activation as a consequence of culture in DM and to explore the role of GCN2 in the phosphorylation of eIF2 α .

To our knowledge, we are the first to report the IRES mediated translation of a BH3-only proapoptotic Bcl2 family member. Nonetheless, IRES activity has been discovered in several other molecules involved in apoptosis such as such as XIAP (133), Apaf-1 (134) and cMyc (135). However, the activation of these IRESs during apoptosis is specific to the apoptotic stimuli and the cell type (64). For instance, it was shown that Apaf-1 translation, which is constitutively IRESmediated, was only enhanced in cell lines of neural origin or in response to genotoxic stress (136). This differential activity of IRES elements with respect to

cell type and stimuli are attributed to the presence of cell specific *trans-acting* factors (ITAFs), which in turn are subject to regulation by internal or external stimuli (73).

Thus, the requirement of an additional 50 nucleotides downstream of the AUG for PUMA IRES activity *in vivo* implies that there are cell-specific transacting factors that can regulate the activity of this IRES (136). We believe that tissue specific ITAF expression can also explain our result of enhanced PUMA IRES activity in HeLa and 293 T cells even in the presence of serum. PTB is an ITAF that is known to be associated with many cellular IRES-containing mRNAs during apoptosis. PTB is highly expressed in HeLa cells as compared to other cell type (137). Future studies are necessary to identify the minimal IRES element in PUMA mRNA to identify the ITAFs associated with this PUMA IRES and to investigate their possible regulation in response to culture in DM or treatment with etoposide.

Although our analysis indicates that PUMA translation can occur under compromised conditions where cap-dependent translation is inhibited, we cannot at this point speculate whether PUMA translation utilizes both cap-dependent and IRES-mediated translation during apoptosis or if PUMA translation is solely IRES mediated under these conditions.

In other cell types, etoposide treatment results in the activation of the transcription factor p53 (138). Translational regulation in response to etoposide in other cell types has been reported and involves an increased level of hypophosphorylated 4E-BP. It has been suggested that p53-mediated pathway might be responsible for modulation of 4E-BP phosphorylation in response to etoposide (107, 139); however, the exact mechanism is not understood. We have previously shown, however, that p53 does not play a role in skeletal myoblast apoptosis in response to serum deprivation (108). Furthermore, we have determined a role for MyoD in the increase of PUMA expression in response to etoposide (T. Harford, unpublished). These data allow us to speculate that MyoD might be responsible for the increase in the PUMA IRES activity in response to culture in DM or treatment with etoposide. It is unlikely that a role for MyoD in the regulation of translation involves its ability to function as a transcription factor since we have shown that increased translation of PUMA is detected in the presence of actinomycin D. Several p53 mediated events are independent of its transcriptional activity (140). Future studies are required to determine the role of MyoD in this process.

REFERENCES:

- 1. **Mathews MSN, and Hershey JWB** 2000 Origins and principles of translational control. In translational control of gene expression(ed. N. Sonenberg, J.W.B. Hershey, and M.B. Mathews), pp. !-31. Cold Spring Harb Press, Cold Spring Harbour, New York
- 2. **Gingras AC, Raught B, Sonenberg N** 1999 eIF4 initiation factors: effectors of mRNA recruitment to ribosomes and regulators of translation. Annu Rev Biochem 68:913-63
- 3. **Hershey JWB and Merrick WC** 2000 Pathway and mechanism of initiation of protein synthesis. In Translational control of gene expression (ed. N. Sonenberg, J.W.B. Hershey, and M.B. Mathews), pp. 637-654. Cold Spring Harb Press, Cold Spring Harbour, New York
- 4. **Sonenberg N, Gingras AC** 1998 The mRNA 5' cap-binding protein eIF4E and control of cell growth. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10:268-75
- 5. Rozen F, Edery I, Meerovitch K, Dever TE, Merrick WC, Sonenberg N 1990 Bidirectional RNA helicase activity of eucaryotic translation initiation factors 4A and 4F. Mol Cell Biol 10:1134-44
- 6. **Hentze MW** 1997 eIF4G: a multipurpose ribosome adapter? Science 275:500-1
- 7. Hershey JWB and Merrick WC 2000 *Translational Control of Gene Expression*, Sonenberg, N., Hershey, JWB. Cold Spring Harb Press, Cold Spring Harbour, New York:pp.38-88
- 8. **Gebauer F, Hentze MW** 2004 Molecular mechanisms of translational control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:827-35
- 9. **Pause A, Belsham GJ, Gingras AC, et al.** 1994 Insulin-dependent stimulation of protein synthesis by phosphorylation of a regulator of 5'-cap function. Nature 371:762-7
- 10. Yoder-Hill J, Pause A, Sonenberg N, Merrick WC 1993 The p46 subunit of eukaryotic initiation factor (eIF)-4F exchanges with eIF-4A. J Biol Chem 268:5566-73
- 11. **Sonenberg N** 1996 mRNA 5' cap-binding protein eIF4E and control of cell growth. In Translational control (eds. J.W.B. Hershey et al.), pp. 245–269. In Translational control(Hershaey, J.W.B., Mathews, M.B., and Sonenberg,

N., eds). Cold Spring Harb Press, Cold Spring Harbour, New York:245-269

- 12. **Pain VM** 1996 Initiation of protein synthesis in eukaryotic cells. Eur J Biochem 236:747-71
- 13. Choi SK, Lee JH, Zoll WL, Merrick WC, Dever TE 1998 Promotion of met-tRNAiMet binding to ribosomes by yIF2, a bacterial IF2 homolog in yeast. Science 280:1757-60
- 14. **Pestova TV, Lomakin IB, Lee JH, Choi SK, Dever TE, Hellen CU** 2000 The joining of ribosomal subunits in eukaryotes requires eIF5B. Nature 403:332-5
- 15. **Kozak M** 1989 Context effects and inefficient initiation at non-AUG codons in eucaryotic cell-free translation systems. Mol Cell Biol 9:5073-80
- 16. Lin TA, Kong X, Haystead TA, et al. 1994 PHAS-I as a link between mitogen-activated protein kinase and translation initiation. Science 266:653-6
- 17. **Haghighat A, Mader S, Pause A, Sonenberg N** 1995 Repression of capdependent translation by 4E-binding protein 1: competition with p220 for binding to eukaryotic initiation factor-4E. Embo J 14:5701-9
- 18. **Beretta L, Svitkin YV, Sonenberg N** 1996 Rapamycin stimulates viral protein synthesis and augments the shutoff of host protein synthesis upon picornavirus infection. J Virol 70:8993-6
- 19. **Brunn GJ, Hudson CC, Sekulic A, et al.** 1997 Phosphorylation of the translational repressor PHAS-I by the mammalian target of rapamycin. Science 277:99-101
- 20. **Gingras AC, Raught B, Gygi SP, et al.** 2001 Hierarchical phosphorylation of the translation inhibitor 4E-BP1. Genes Dev 15:2852-64
- 21. Shah OJ, Anthony JC, Kimball SR, Jefferson LS 2000 4E-BP1 and S6K1: translational integration sites for nutritional and hormonal information in muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 279:E715-29
- 22. Beretta L, Gingras AC, Svitkin YV, Hall MN, Sonenberg N 1996 Rapamycin blocks the phosphorylation of 4E-BP1 and inhibits capdependent initiation of translation. Embo J 15:658-64

- 23. **Graves LM, Bornfeldt KE, Argast GM, et al.** 1995 cAMP- and rapamycin-sensitive regulation of the association of eukaryotic initiation factor 4E and the translational regulator PHAS-I in aortic smooth muscle cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:7222-6
- 24. **Mendez R, Myers MG, Jr., White MF, Rhoads RE** 1996 Stimulation of protein synthesis, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E phosphorylation, and PHAS-I phosphorylation by insulin requires insulin receptor substrate 1 and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Mol Cell Biol 16:2857-64
- 25. **Gallie DR, Traugh JA** 1994 Serum and insulin regulate cap function in 3T3-L1 cells. J Biol Chem 269:7174-9
- 26. Lin TA, Kong X, Saltiel AR, Blackshear PJ, Lawrence JC, Jr. 1995 Control of PHAS-I by insulin in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Synthesis, degradation, and phosphorylation by a rapamycin-sensitive and mitogen-activated protein kinase-independent pathway. J Biol Chem 270:18531-8
- 27. **von Manteuffel SR, Gingras AC, Ming XF, Sonenberg N, Thomas G** 1996 4E-BP1 phosphorylation is mediated by the FRAP-p70s6k pathway and is independent of mitogen-activated protein kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:4076-80
- 28. **Gingras AC, Raught B, Sonenberg N** 2004 mTOR signaling to translation. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 279:169-97
- 29. **Gingras AC, Kennedy SG, O'Leary MA, Sonenberg N, Hay N** 1998 4E-BP1, a repressor of mRNA translation, is phosphorylated and inactivated by the Akt(PKB) signaling pathway. Genes Dev 12:502-13
- 30. Florini JR, Magri KA, Ewton DZ, James PL, Grindstaff K, Rotwein PS 1991 "Spontaneous" differentiation of skeletal myoblasts is dependent upon autocrine secretion of insulin-like growth factor-II. J Biol Chem 266:15917-23
- 31. **Tollefsen SE, Lajara R, McCusker RH, Clemmons DR, Rotwein P** 1989 Insulin-like growth factors (IGF) in muscle development. Expression of IGF-I, the IGF-I receptor, and an IGF binding protein during myoblast differentiation. J Biol Chem 264:13810-7
- 32. **Perry RL, Rudnick MA** 2000 Molecular mechanisms regulating myogenic determination and differentiation. Front Biosci 5:D750-67
- 33. **Dee K, Freer M, Mei Y, Weyman CM** 2002 Apoptosis coincident with the differentiation of skeletal myoblasts is delayed by caspase 3 inhibition and

abrogated by MEK-independent constitutive Ras signaling. Cell Death Differ 9:209-18

- 34. **Heitman J, Movva NR, Hall MN** 1991 Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast. Science 253:905-9
- 35. Alarcon CM, Heitman J, Cardenas ME 1999 Protein kinase activity and identification of a toxic effector domain of the target of rapamycin TOR proteins in yeast. Mol Biol Cell 10:2531-46
- 36. **Delneste Y, Bosotti R, Magistrelli G, Bonnefoy JY, Gauchat JF** 2000 Detection of a polymorphism in exon 8 of the human CD86 gene. Immunogenetics 51:762-3
- 37. **Bosotti R, Isacchi A, Sonnhammer EL** 2000 FAT: a novel domain in PIK-related kinases. Trends Biochem Sci 25:225-7
- 38. **Visco C, Magistrelli G, Bosotti R, et al.** 2000 Activation of Zap-70 tyrosine kinase due to a structural rearrangement induced by tyrosine phosphorylation and/or ITAM binding. Biochemistry 39:2784-91
- 39. **Magistrelli G, Bosotti R, Valsasina B, et al.** 1999 Role of the Src homology 2 domains and interdomain regions in ZAP-70 phosphorylation and enzymatic activity. Eur J Biochem 266:1166-73
- 40. **Gingras AC, Raught B, Sonenberg N** 2001 Regulation of translation initiation by FRAP/mTOR. Genes Dev 15:807-26
- 41. **Hoekstra MF** 1997 Responses to DNA damage and regulation of cell cycle checkpoints by the ATM protein kinase family. Curr Opin Genet Dev 7:170-5
- 42. **Brown EJ, Beal PA, Keith CT, Chen J, Shin TB, Schreiber SL** 1995 Control of p70 s6 kinase by kinase activity of FRAP in vivo. Nature 377:441-6
- 43. **Hinnebusch AG** 2000 in Translation Control. Cold Spring Harb Press, Cold Spring Harbour, New York:185
- 44. **Merrick WC and Hershey JWB** 1996 in Translational control (Hershey, J.W.B., Mathews, M.B., and Sonenberg, N, eds) pp.31-69. Cold Spring Harb Press, Cold Spring Harbour, New York
- 45. **Clemens MJ, Elia A** 1997 The double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR: structure and function. J Interferon Cytokine Res 17:503-24

- 46. **Jagus R, Joshi B, Barber GN** 1999 PKR, apoptosis and cancer. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31:123-38
- 47. **Harding HP, Zhang Y, Bertolotti A, Zeng H, Ron D** 2000 Perk is essential for translational regulation and cell survival during the unfolded protein response. Mol Cell 5:897-904
- 48. **Chen JJ, Crosby JS, London IM** 1994 Regulation of heme-regulated eIF-2 alpha kinase and its expression in erythroid cells. Biochimie 76:761-9
- 49. **Berlanga JJ, Santoyo J, De Haro C** 1999 Characterization of a mammalian homolog of the GCN2 eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha kinase. Eur J Biochem 265:754-62
- 50. **Saelens X, Kalai M, Vandenabeele P** 2001 Translation inhibition in apoptosis: caspase-dependent PKR activation and eIF2-alpha phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 276:41620-8
- 51. **Clemens MJ** 2001 Translational regulation in cell stress and apoptosis. Roles of the eIF4E binding proteins. J Cell Mol Med 5:221-39
- 52. **Iida K, Li Y, McGrath BC, Frank A, Cavener DR** 2007 PERK eIF2 alpha kinase is required to regulate the viability of the exocrine pancreas in mice. BMC Cell Biol 8:38
- 53. **Toth A, Nickson P, Mandl A, Bannister ML, Toth K, Erhardt P** 2007 Endoplasmic reticulum stress as a novel therapeutic target in heart diseases. Cardiovasc Hematol Disord Drug Targets 7:205-18
- 54. **Raven JF, Koromilas AE** 2008 PERK and PKR: old kinases learn new tricks. Cell Cycle 7:1146-50
- 55. Yamaguchi Y, Larkin D, Lara-Lemus R, Ramos-Castaneda J, Liu M, Arvan P 2008 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) chaperone regulation and survival of cells compensating for deficiency in the ER stress response kinase, PERK. J Biol Chem 283:17020-9
- 56. **Kim I, Xu W, Reed JC** 2008 Cell death and endoplasmic reticulum stress: disease relevance and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:1013-30
- 57. Wu LM, Tso M, Zhu XA, Guo XJ, Yang LP 2008 [Endoplasmic reticulum stress proteins are activated in rd retinal degeneration]. Zhonghua Yan Ke Za Zhi 44:807-12

- 58. **Bouchecareilh M, Chevet E** 2009 [Endoplasmic reticulum stress: light my fire]. Med Sci (Paris) 25:281-7
- 59. **Chen JJ** 2007 Regulation of protein synthesis by the heme-regulated elF2alpha kinase: relevance to anemias. Blood 109:2693-9
- 60. **Gingras AC, Gygi SP, Raught B, et al.** 1999 Regulation of 4E-BP1 phosphorylation: a novel two-step mechanism. Genes Dev 13:1422-37
- 61. **Pelletier J, Sonenberg N** 1988 Internal initiation of translation of eukaryotic mRNA directed by a sequence derived from poliovirus RNA. Nature 334:320-5
- 62. **Kaminski A, Jackson RJ** 1998 The polypyrimidine tract binding protein (PTB) requirement for internal initiation of translation of cardiovirus RNAs is conditional rather than absolute. Rna 4:626-38
- 63. **Jackson RJ** 2005 Alternative mechanisms of initiating translation of mammalian mRNAs. Biochem Soc Trans 33:1231-41
- 64. **Hellen CU, Sarnow P** 2001 Internal ribosome entry sites in eukaryotic mRNA molecules. Genes Dev 15:1593-612
- 65. Jang SK, Krausslich HG, Nicklin MJ, Duke GM, Palmenberg AC, Wimmer E 1988 A segment of the 5' nontranslated region of encephalomyocarditis virus RNA directs internal entry of ribosomes during in vitro translation. J Virol 62:2636-43
- 66. **Pelletier J, Kaplan G, Racaniello VR, Sonenberg N** 1988 Capindependent translation of poliovirus mRNA is conferred by sequence elements within the 5' noncoding region. Mol Cell Biol 8:1103-12
- 67. **Macejak DG, Sarnow P** 1991 Internal initiation of translation mediated by the 5' leader of a cellular mRNA. Nature 353:90-4
- 68. **Stoneley M, Subkhankulova T, Le Quesne JP, et al.** 2000 Analysis of the c-myc IRES; a potential role for cell-type specific trans-acting factors and the nuclear compartment. Nucleic Acids Res 28:687-94
- 69. Holcik M, Lefebvre C, Yeh C, Chow T, Korneluk RG 1999 A new internal-ribosome-entry-site motif potentiates XIAP-mediated cytoprotection. Nat Cell Biol 1:190-2
- 70. Le SY, Chen JH, Sonenberg N, Maizel JV, Jr. 1993 Conserved tertiary structural elements in the 5' nontranslated region of cardiovirus, aphthovirus and hepatitis A virus RNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 21:2445-51

- 71. Le SY, Siddiqui A, Maizel JV, Jr. 1996 A common structural core in the internal ribosome entry sites of picornavirus, hepatitis C virus, and pestivirus. Virus Genes 12:135-47
- 72. **Martinez-Salas E, Ramos R, Lafuente E, Lopez de Quinto S** 2001 Functional interactions in internal translation initiation directed by viral and cellular IRES elements. J Gen Virol 82:973-84
- 73. **Stoneley M, Willis AE** 2004 Cellular internal ribosome entry segments: structures, trans-acting factors and regulation of gene expression. Oncogene 23:3200-7
- 74. **Pestova TV, Shatsky IN, Hellen CU** 1996 Functional dissection of eukaryotic initiation factor 4F: the 4A subunit and the central domain of the 4G subunit are sufficient to mediate internal entry of 43S preinitiation complexes. Mol Cell Biol 16:6870-8
- 75. **Borman A, Howell MT, Patton JG, Jackson RJ** 1993 The involvement of a spliceosome component in internal initiation of human rhinovirus RNA translation. J Gen Virol 74 (Pt 9):1775-88
- 76. **Jang SK, Wimmer E** 1990 Cap-independent translation of encephalomyocarditis virus RNA: structural elements of the internal ribosomal entry site and involvement of a cellular 57-kD RNA-binding protein. Genes Dev 4:1560-72
- 77. **Meerovitch K, Svitkin YV, Lee HS, et al.** 1993 La autoantigen enhances and corrects aberrant translation of poliovirus RNA in reticulocyte lysate. J Virol 67:3798-807
- 78. **Hunt SL, Jackson RJ** 1999 Polypyrimidine-tract binding protein (PTB) is necessary, but not sufficient, for efficient internal initiation of translation of human rhinovirus-2 RNA. Rna 5:344-59
- 79. Walter BL, Nguyen JH, Ehrenfeld E, Semler BL 1999 Differential utilization of poly(rC) binding protein 2 in translation directed by picornavirus IRES elements. Rna 5:1570-85
- 80. **Hunt SL, Hsuan JJ, Totty N, Jackson RJ** 1999 unr, a cellular cytoplasmic RNA-binding protein with five cold-shock domains, is required for internal initiation of translation of human rhinovirus RNA. Genes Dev 13:437-48

- 81. **Konieczny SF, Emerson CP, Jr.** 1984 5-Azacytidine induction of stable mesodermal stem cell lineages from 10T1/2 cells: evidence for regulatory genes controlling determination. Cell 38:791-800
- 82. **Drew J, Belsham GJ** 1994 trans complementation by RNA of defective foot-and-mouth disease virus internal ribosome entry site elements. J Virol 68:697-703
- 83. **Gaccioli F, Huang CC, Wang C, et al.** 2006 Amino acid starvation induces the SNAT2 neutral amino acid transporter by a mechanism that involves eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha phosphorylation and cap-independent translation. J Biol Chem 281:17929-40
- 84. Han B, Dong Z, Liu Y, Chen Q, Hashimoto K, Zhang JT 2003 Regulation of constitutive expression of mouse PTEN by the 5'untranslated region. Oncogene 22:5325-37
- 85. **Johannes G, Carter MS, Eisen MB, Brown PO, Sarnow P** 1999 Identification of eukaryotic mRNAs that are translated at reduced cap binding complex eIF4F concentrations using a cDNA microarray. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:13118-23
- 86. **Morley SJ, Jeffrey I, Bushell M, Pain VM, Clemens MJ** 2000 Differential requirements for caspase-8 activity in the mechanism of phosphorylation of eIF2alpha, cleavage of eIF4GI and signaling events associated with the inhibition of protein synthesis in apoptotic Jurkat T cells. FEBS Lett 477:229-36
- 87. **Duncan R, Hershey JW** 1985 Regulation of initiation factors during translational repression caused by serum depletion. Abundance, synthesis, and turnover rates. J Biol Chem 260:5486-92
- 88. **Zuker M** 2003 Mfold web server for nucleic acid folding and hybridization prediction. Nucleic Acids Res 31:3406-15
- 89. **Jackson RJ, Kaminski A** 1995 Internal initiation of translation in eukaryotes: the picornavirus paradigm and beyond. Rna 1:985-1000
- 90. **Geballe AP, Morris DR** 1994 Initiation codons within 5'-leaders of mRNAs as regulators of translation. Trends Biochem Sci 19:159-64
- 91. **Ray PS, Grover R, Das S** 2006 Two internal ribosome entry sites mediate the translation of p53 isoforms. EMBO Rep 7:404-10
- 92. Komar AA, Lesnik T, Cullin C, Merrick WC, Trachsel H, Altmann M 2003 Internal initiation drives the synthesis of Ure2 protein lacking the

prion domain and affects [URE3] propagation in yeast cells. Embo J 22:1199-209

- 93. **Maier D, Nagel AC, Preiss A** 2002 Two isoforms of the Notch antagonist Hairless are produced by differential translation initiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:15480-5
- 94. Hardwick JS, Kuruvilla FG, Tong JK, Shamji AF, Schreiber SL 1999 Rapamycin-modulated transcription defines the subset of nutrientsensitive signaling pathways directly controlled by the Tor proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:14866-70
- 95. **Sabatini DM, Erdjument-Bromage H, Lui M, Tempst P, Snyder SH** 1994 RAFT1: a mammalian protein that binds to FKBP12 in a rapamycindependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs. Cell 78:35-43
- 96. **Hara K, Maruki Y, Long X, et al.** 2002 Raptor, a binding partner of target of rapamycin (TOR), mediates TOR action. Cell 110:177-89
- 97. **Gingras AC, Raught B, Sonenberg N** 2001 Control of translation by the target of rapamycin proteins. Prog Mol Subcell Biol 27:143-74
- 98. **Han B, Zhang JT** 2002 Regulation of gene expression by internal ribosome entry sites or cryptic promoters: the eIF4G story. Mol Cell Biol 22:7372-84
- 99. Schneider R, Agol VI, Andino R, et al. 2001 New ways of initiating translation in eukaryotes. Mol Cell Biol 21:8238-46
- 100. **Kozak M** 2001 New ways of initiating translation in eukaryotes? Mol Cell Biol 21:1899-907
- 101. Liu Z, Dong Z, Han B, Yang Y, Liu Y, Zhang JT 2005 Regulation of expression by promoters versus internal ribosome entry site in the 5'-untranslated sequence of the human cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27kip1. Nucleic Acids Res 33:3763-71
- 102. Van Eden ME, Byrd MP, Sherrill KW, Lloyd RE 2004 Demonstrating internal ribosome entry sites in eukaryotic mRNAs using stringent RNA test procedures. Rna 10:720-30
- 103. **Kaufmann SH, Earnshaw WC** 2000 Induction of apoptosis by cancer chemotherapy. Exp Cell Res 256:42-9
- 104. Lutzker SG, Levine AJ 1996 Apoptosis and cancer chemotherapy. Cancer Treat Res 87:345-56

- 105. **Karpinich NO, Tafani M, Rothman RJ, Russo MA, Farber JL** 2002 The course of etoposide-induced apoptosis from damage to DNA and p53 activation to mitochondrial release of cytochrome c. J Biol Chem 277:16547-52
- 106. **Tee AR, Proud CG** 2000 DNA-damaging agents cause inactivation of translational regulators linked to mTOR signalling. Oncogene 19:3021-31
- 107. Horton LE, Bushell M, Barth-Baus D, Tilleray VJ, Clemens MJ, Hensold JO 2002 p53 activation results in rapid dephosphorylation of the eIF4E-binding protein 4E-BP1, inhibition of ribosomal protein S6 kinase and inhibition of translation initiation. Oncogene 21:5325-34
- 108. **Shaltouki A, Freer M, Mei Y, Weyman CM** 2007 Increased expression of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family member PUMA is required for mitochondrial release of cytochrome C and the apoptosis associated with skeletal myoblast differentiation. Apoptosis 12:2143-54
- 109. **Grandela C, Pera MF, Wolvetang EJ** 2007 p53 is required for etoposideinduced apoptosis of human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Res 1:116-28
- 110. **Chen Y, Qian H, Wang H, et al.** 2007 Ad-PUMA sensitizes drug-resistant choriocarcinoma cells to chemotherapeutic agents. Gynecol Oncol 107:505-12
- 111. **Ekoff M, Kaufmann T, Engstrom M, et al.** 2007 The BH3-only protein Puma plays an essential role in cytokine deprivation induced apoptosis of mast cells. Blood 110:3209-17
- 112. **Yu J, Zhang L, Hwang PM, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B** 2001 PUMA induces the rapid apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cell 7:673-82
- 113. **Nakano K, Vousden KH** 2001 PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. Mol Cell 7:683-94
- 114. **Clemens MJ, Bushell M, Morley SJ** 1998 Degradation of eukaryotic polypeptide chain initiation factor (eIF) 4G in response to induction of apoptosis in human lymphoma cell lines. Oncogene 17:2921-31
- 115. **Raught B, Gingras AC, Gygi SP, et al.** 2000 Serum-stimulated, rapamycin-sensitive phosphorylation sites in the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4GI. Embo J 19:434-44

- 116. **Kuwano M, Endo H, Ikehera Y** 1973 Differences in RNA formation and polyribosome metabolism in serum-starved normal and transformed cells. Cancer Res 33:2965-71
- 117. **Clemens MJ, Bushell M, Jeffrey IW, Pain VM, Morley SJ** 2000 Translation initiation factor modifications and the regulation of protein synthesis in apoptotic cells. Cell Death Differ 7:603-15
- 118. Satoh S, Hijikata M, Handa H, Shimotohno K 1999 Caspase-mediated cleavage of eukaryotic translation initiation factor subunit 2alpha. Biochem J 342 (Pt 1):65-70
- 119. Jeffrey IW, Bushell M, Tilleray VJ, Morley S, Clemens MJ 2002 Inhibition of protein synthesis in apoptosis: differential requirements by the tumor necrosis factor alpha family and a DNA-damaging agent for caspases and the double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase. Cancer Res 62:2272-80
- 120. **Rotwein P, Bichell DP, Kikuchi K** 1993 Multifactorial regulation of IGF-I gene expression. Mol Reprod Dev 35:358-63; discussion 363-4
- Rotwein P, Hall LJ 1990 Evolution of insulin-like growth factor II: characterization of the mouse IGF-II gene and identification of two pseudo-exons. DNA Cell Biol 9:725-35
- 122. Martelli AM, Evangelisti C, Chiarini F, Grimaldi C, Manzoli L, McCubrey JA 2009 Targeting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling network in acute myelogenous leukemia. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 18:1333-49
- 123. **Tain LS, Mortiboys H, Tao RN, Ziviani E, Bandmann O, Whitworth AJ** 2009 Rapamycin activation of 4E-BP prevents parkinsonian dopaminergic neuron loss. Nat Neurosci 12:1129-35
- 124. **Jacobson BA, De A, Kratzke MG, et al.** 2009 Activated 4E-BP1 represses tumourigenesis and IGF-I-mediated activation of the eIF4F complex in mesothelioma. Br J Cancer 101:424-31
- 125. **LoPiccolo J, Blumenthal GM, Bernstein WB, Dennis PA** 2008 Targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway: effective combinations and clinical considerations. Drug Resist Updat 11:32-50
- 126. Que J, Lian Q, El Oakley RM, Lim B, Lim SK 2007 PI3 K/Akt/mTORmediated translational control regulates proliferation and differentiation of lineage-restricted RoSH stem cell lines. J Mol Signal 2:9

- 127. **Mamane Y, Petroulakis E, LeBacquer O, Sonenberg N** 2006 mTOR, translation initiation and cancer. Oncogene 25:6416-22
- 128. **Chang SB, Miron P, Miron A, Iglehart JD** 2007 Rapamycin inhibits proliferation of estrogen-receptor-positive breast cancer cells. J Surg Res 138:37-44
- 129. **Coolican SA, Samuel DS, Ewton DZ, McWade FJ, Florini JR** 1997 The mitogenic and myogenic actions of insulin-like growth factors utilize distinct signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 272:6653-62
- 130. Karasarides M, Dee K, Schulman D, Wolfman A, Weyman CM 2006 Active Ras-induced effects on skeletal myoblast differentiation and apoptosis are independent of constitutive PI3-kinase activity. Cell Biol Int 30:308-18
- 131. **Trachsel H, Staehelin T** 1978 Binding and release of eukaryotic initiation factor eIF-2 and GTP during protein synthesis initiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:204-8
- 132. **Dever TE** 2002 Gene-specific regulation by general translation factors. Cell 108:545-56
- 133. Holcik M, Gordon BW, Korneluk RG 2003 The internal ribosome entry site-mediated translation of antiapoptotic protein XIAP is modulated by the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins C1 and C2. Mol Cell Biol 23:280-8
- 134. Coldwell MJ, Mitchell SA, Stoneley M, MacFarlane M, Willis AE 2000 Initiation of Apaf-1 translation by internal ribosome entry. Oncogene 19:899-905
- 135. Stoneley M, Chappell SA, Jopling CL, Dickens M, MacFarlane M, Willis AE 2000 c-Myc protein synthesis is initiated from the internal ribosome entry segment during apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 20:1162-9
- 136. **Mitchell SA, Spriggs KA, Coldwell MJ, Jackson RJ, Willis AE** 2003 The Apaf-1 internal ribosome entry segment attains the correct structural conformation for function via interactions with PTB and unr. Mol Cell 11:757-71
- 137. Bushell M, Stoneley M, Kong YW, et al. 2006 Polypyrimidine tract binding protein regulates IRES-mediated gene expression during apoptosis. Mol Cell 23:401-12

- 138. **May P, May E** 1999 Twenty years of p53 research: structural and functional aspects of the p53 protein. Oncogene 18:7621-36
- 139. **Clemens MJ** 2004 Targets and mechanisms for the regulation of translation in malignant transformation. Oncogene 23:3180-8
- 140. **Moll UM, Wolff S, Speidel D, Deppert W** 2005 Transcription-independent pro-apoptotic functions of p53. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:631-6

VI. SUMMARY

Programmed cell death (apoptosis) is induced concomitant with the induction of differentiation in skeletal myoblasts (1, 2). Skeletal myoblast transplantation is a potential treatment for muscular dystrophies (3), acute myocardial infarction (4) and chronic end-stage heart dystrophies (5). Transplanted myoblast survival rates remain low despite great advances in stem cell therapy (3). Thus, identifying therapeutic targets for manipulation to block apoptosis associated with differentiation might improve efficacy of myoblast transfer. Herein we report a functional role for increased PUMA expression in the release of cytochrome C and apoptosis in skeletal myoblasts. By modulation of PUMA expression we showed, for the first time, that we can successfully abrogate apoptosis without affecting differentiation. These findings could be significant in the utilization of PUMA as a therapeutic target in the effort to suppress myoblast apoptosis and increase the efficacy of myoblast transfer. Therefore, the assessment of survivability of PUMA -/- satellite cells in myoblast transfer should be considered. We speculate that myoblasts derived from satellite cells deficient for PUMA may improve the regenerative potential of myoblast stem cells for the purpose of the cell therapy.

PUMA is involved in mitochondrial mediated apoptosis in response to a vast number of stimuli in a p53-dependent and independent manner (6). While exogenous PUMA expression induces apoptosis in a number of human cancer cells (7, 8), its deletion has been shown to abrogate apoptosis in response to hypoxia, p53 signaling and DNA damaging agents (9). Impairment of apoptosis renders cancer cells resistant to chemotherapy and radiation therapy. In many cases this resistance is attributed to the p53 status of the tumors (10). Modulation of PUMA expression has been shown to restore the therapeutic response of cancer cells to anticancer agents, particularly when combined with DNA-damaging agents (11). Our findings suggest that PUMA is translated in a cap-independent manner using an IRES element in its 5'UTR. We showed that PUMA is synthesized under compromised conditions where total protein synthesis is inhibited. Exploring the molecular mechanism(s) responsible for this IRES-mediated translation will identify additional therapeutic targets. We believe that this selective translation as well as tissue specific expression of translational factors will allow more precise manipulation of PUMA in anticancer therapy regardless of p53 status.

REFERENCES:

- 1. **Fidzianska A, Goebel HH** 1991 Human ontogenesis. 3. Cell death in fetal muscle. Acta Neuropathol 81:572-7
- 2. **Dee K, Freer M, Mei Y, Weyman CM** 2002 Apoptosis coincident with the differentiation of skeletal myoblasts is delayed by caspase 3 inhibition and abrogated by MEK-independent constitutive Ras signaling. Cell Death Differ 9:209-18
- 3. **Partridge T** 2002 Myoblast transplantation. Neuromuscul Disord 12 Suppl 1:S3-6
- 4. **Menasche P** 2003 Skeletal muscle satellite cell transplantation. Cardiovasc Res 58:351-7
- 5. **Struber M, Lange R, Gummert JF, et al.** 2007 Alternatives to heart transplantation. Symposium of the "Treatment of End-stage Heart and Lung Failure" working group on October 22, 2005 in Munich. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 55 Suppl 2:S147-67
- 6. **Yu J, Zhang L** 2003 No PUMA, no death: implications for p53-dependent apoptosis. Cancer Cell 4:248-9
- 7. Yu J, Zhang L, Hwang PM, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B 2001 PUMA induces the rapid apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cell 7:673-82
- 8. **Nakano K, Vousden KH** 2001 PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. Mol Cell 7:683-94
- 9. Yu J, Wang Z, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Zhang L 2003 PUMA mediates the apoptotic response to p53 in colorectal cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:1931-6
- 10. **Lane DP, Lain S** 2002 Therapeutic exploitation of the p53 pathway. Trends Mol Med 8:S38-42
- 11. **Yu J, Yue W, Wu B, Zhang L** 2006 PUMA sensitizes lung cancer cells to chemotherapeutic agents and irradiation. Clin Cancer Res 12:2928-36